
NOTICE OF EXEC UTIVE SESSION

NOTICE lS HEREBY GIVEN thot the Boord of Directors
of thE RIVER RIDGE DEVETOPMENT AUTHORITY WIII

hold on executive session meeting in its office
locoted of 300 Corporote Drive, Suite 300,

Jeffersonville, lndiono, on

Thursd cry, Februqry 20, 2025
ql l2:00 p.m.

The purpose of the meeting is limited to (l )

discussion, interviews, ond/or negotiotions with
industricl or commerciol prospects or ogents of
industriol or commerciol prospects, (2) discussion of
strotegy with respect to the initiotion of litigotion
ond/or discussion of litigotion thot is either pending
or hos been threotened specificolly in writing,
ond/or (3) receiving informotion obout prospective
employees, oll pursuont to the provisions of lnd.
Code SS 5-14-1.5-5.1(b) (2),(4) ond (5) .

RIVER RIDGE DEVETOPMENT AUTHORITY



NOTICE OF REGUTAR MEETING

NOTICE lS HEREBY GIVEN thot the
RIVER RIDGE DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY

will hold o Regulor Meeting thot is open to the
public on

Thursd ey, Februqry 20, 2025
ol 2:00 p.m.

in the River Ridge Development Authority Boord
Room, 300 Corporote Drive, Suite 300,

Jeffersonville, Indiono.

The purpose of the meeting is to conduct ony
ond oll business thot moy come before the
Boord.

RIVER RIDGE DEVETOPMENT AUTHORITY



River Ridge Development Authority
Regular Board Meeting

300 Corporate Drive, 3'd Floor, Suite #300, Jeffersonville, lN
February 20,2025

2:00 P.M.

1 Callto Order

Roll Call

Meeting Notice Confirmation

Minutes - January 21,2025

Chairperson of the Board Comments

2024 Draft Audit Presentation

Charlestown Police Presentation

Executive Director's Report

9. Engineering & Operations

Dr. Hodges

Dr. Hodges

Mr. Acy

Dr. Hodges

Dr. Hodges

Ms. Durrett
Cherry Bekaert ReP(s)

Chief Eric Kruse

Mr. Acy

Mr. Hildenbrand

2.

3.

4.

5.

6.

7.

8.

12

13

14

15.

Other Supporting Sfaff RePods
No verbal reports witl be offered, but questions will be answered

10. Business Development & Real Estate Mr. Staten

11. Corporate Strategy & External Affairs Ms. Chesser

2024 AudilAcceptance
Resolution 09-2025 (Mr. Acy)

Board Member

No Excess Property Tax Declaration
Resolution 10-2025 (Mr. AcY)

Board Member

2025 Budget Amendments
Resolution 11-2025 (Mr. Fifer)

Board Member

Jeffersonville Police Service Agreement
Resolution 12-2025 (Mr. Fifer)

Board Member

Height Limit Exception - Tract 19C
Resolution 13-2025 (Mr. Vittitow)

16.

Board Member



17 Negotiation of Sale - Tract 15H - 13.9 +l- Acres
Resolution 14-2025 (Mr. Hildenbrand)

Patrol Road Realignment Construction Contract
Resolution 15-2025 (Mr. Lauer)

Website Development Professional Services Agreement
Resolution 16-2025 (Ms. Prewitt)

Controller's Report

Attorney's Report

Other Comments (limit 2 minutes each)

Adjournment

Board Member

18

19

20

21

22

23

Board Member

Board Member

Ms. Durrett

Mr. Fifer



River Ridge Development Authority
Regular Board Meeting Minutes

January 21,2025

Call to Order: A regular meeting of the River Ridge Development Authority (RRDA) was called to order at

2:17p.m. on Tuesday, January 21,2025, in the office of River Ridge Development Authority,

Drive, Jeffersonville, lndiana. The meeting was called to order following a properly noticed
300 Corporate
and convened

executive session meeting of the Board.

Roll Call: present were Board members: Treva Hodges, Ed Meyer, Brian Lenfert, Eric Ballenger, and Tony

Bennett.

RRDA staff members present: Jerry Acy, Executive Director; Greg Fifer, General Counsel; Tom Vittitow, Projects

and planning; Billieann Durrett, Finance; Jill Oca, Staff Accountant, Marc Hildenbrand, Engineering and

Operations; Josh Staten, Business Development and Real Estate; Eric Lauer, Engineering; Michael Caruso,

Construction and GIS; Abi Prewitt, Digital Marketing; Charlie Endicott, Maintenance; Jermy Nicheols, Outside

Operations and Water; and Renee'Tarpley Wyman, Administration and Special Projects.

Members of the public who attended were as follows. Paul Boone, American Structurepoint; Chris Pope and

Bob Stein, United Consulting; Tyler King, America Place; John Kraft, MAC Construction; Erik Hackman, News &

Tribune; and Jack Coffman, Clark County Commissioner.

Meetinq Notice Confirmation: Mr. Acy confirmed that the meeting notices for the January 21,2025, regular Board

meeting were properly posted.

Approval of Minutes: Dr. Hodges presented the December 16, 2024 meeting minutes for approval. Mr. Lenfert

offered a motion to approve the minutes as written, and Mr. Ballenger seconded. The minutes were approved

by a vote of 5-0.

Chairwoman of the Board mments: Dr. Hodges having no comments, the Board proceeded to address the

nomination and acceptance of the 2025 RRDA Board officers.

Election of Officers: The Nomination Committee recommended that all officers remain the same for 2025: President,

DL Trc\ra Hodges; Vice president, Mr. Ed Meyer; and Secretary/Treasurer, Mr. Brian Lenfert. With no comments, Mr.

Ballenger offeied a motion to approve the proposed nominations, seconded by Dr. Bennett, and unanimously

approved 5-0.

Staff Reports. Executive Director, Jerry Acy; Chief Director, Marc Hildenbrand; and Senior Director, Josh Staten

presented. The written staff reports were received into the record of the meeting'

Items and questions of note resulting from these presentations; Mr. Acy thanked and complimented the outside

maintenance team of RRDA for their outstanding efforts during the heavy snowfall experienced earlier in the

month. Adjustments have been made to the 2025 RRDA Board Meeting Calendar; February's meeting willtake

place on February 20th and March's meeting on March 13th.

Resolutions were then presented for Board approval.

Resolution No. 01-2025, a resolution approving the2Q25 Budget, was presented by Mr. Acy. Mr. Lenfert advised

that he was fine with adopting as presented, subject to amendments being proposed and presented at the

February meeting. Mr. Lenfert requested that for future budgets, that the Board receive the proposed budget in
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River Ridge Development Authority
Regular Board Meeting Minutes

January 21,2025

November with Resolution being presented in December. Mr. Lenferl then offered a motion to approve, Mr

Meyer seconded, and Resolution No. 01-2025 was 5-0

Resolution No. 02-2025, a resolution authorizing an amendment to the River Ridge Development Authority

retirement plan, was presented by Mr. Acy. lt has been decided and deemed necessary that the plan, which has

been in place since January 2000, should be revised to authorize the Executive Director to amend the selection

under the Adoption Agreement effective January 1, 2025. Mr. Meyer asked what would be different, to which

Finance Director Durrett replied that the only change would be administrative functionality. Mr. Meyer offered a

motion to approve, Dr. Hodges seconded, and Resolution No. 02-2025 was approved 5-0.

Resolution No. 03-2025, a resolution to negotiate an agreement to sell Tract 16G (1 1 acres), was presented by

Mr. Staten. A potential purchaser has stated their desire to purchase Tract 16G, consisting of approximately 11

acres on Trey Street to construct an industrial facility of at least 100,000 square feet forthe price of $135,000

per acre. Mr. Ballenger offered a motion to approve, Dr. Bennett seconded, and Resolution 03-2025 was

approved 5-0.

Resolution No. 04-2025, a resolution approving the 300 Corporate Drive HVAC Equipment Maintenance

Agreement, was presented by Mr. Hildenbrand. Alpha Mechanical Service, lnc., submitted a proposal in the

amount of $45,000 to the Condominium Association to perform routine maintenance on all HVAC equipment on

or in the Office Building. Expenses shall be split between RRDA (one-third) and Clark County Building

Corporation (two-thirds) after being paid in advance with operating funds by RRDA. RRDA will periodically submit

invoicing to Clark County for their portion of the expense. Mr. Meyer asked who originally installed the equipment

and why no bids were taken. The response by Mr. Hildenbrand responded that Alpha Mechanical was not the

installer but had provided great service and does maintenance on other County buildings, thus having a good

relationship with Marion Shepard. Dr. Hodges asked to confirm that twothirds of this expense would, in fact, be

paid by the County and Mr. Hildenbrand confirmed that to be the case. Mr. Ballenger offered a motion to approve,

and Mr. Lenfert seconded, and Resolution 04-2025 was aooroved 5-0.

Resolution No. 05-2025, a resolution approving the award of the P&E Area Phase VlllACM Abatement Contract,

was presented by Mr. Vittitow. Five contractors submitted bids that have been reviewed by RRDA staff. Rudolph

Hardin LLC (d/b/a RH Environmental), was found to be the most responsible, responsive, and cost effective with

a bid of $114,450. Funding source for this project will be TlF. Mr. Meyer inquired as to whether or not RH

Environmentalwas a local company, to which Mr. Vittitow replied that they are. Dr. Bennett offered a motion to

approve with an amendment that the amount will not exceed the sum of $114,450, Mr. Lenfert seconded, and

Resolution 05-2025 was approved 5-0.

Resolution No. 06-2025, a resolution approving the Gateway Sewer Phase 3 Consultant Contract, was presented

by Mr. Lauer. Having previously consulted with HWC Engineering, lnc., RRDA staff requested they submit a

proposal for this work which includes approximately 1,750 linear feet of 24-inch diameter gravity sanitary sewer

main with connection to an existing main located northeast of the Gateway Office Park. HWC Engineering

returned a quote in the amount of g42,500 .2024 BANs will be used as the funding source. Mr. Meyer asked why

only one quote was sought or why this project was not put out for bid. Mr. Lauer responded by saying that the

preliminary work was done by HWC and that they were familiar with the project(s). Mr. Hildenbrand added that

engineering projects are typically put out for bid, although RRDA does compare costs to ensure honest and

reasonable pricing. Dr. Bennett offered a motion to approve, Mr. Ballenger seconded, and Resolution 06-2025

was approved 5-0.
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Resolution No. 07-2025, a resolution approving the Miami Trail Phase 2 Consultant Contract, was presented by

Mr. Lauer. This project consists of three (3) lane curb and gutter roadway with an underground storm drainage

system for approximately 2,770linear feet from the intersection with Penny Martin Lane, and approximately

1,630 linear feet of water main. RRDA requested a proposal from United Consulting Engineers, lnc., for

consultant services, which resulted in a quote for $205,200. Funding source shall be TlF. With questions being

raised about projects not going out for bid and only having one quote/proposal, Mr. Hildenbrand again stated

that professional services such as engineering work is typically not put out for bid but requested. Mr. Meyer

offered a motion to approve, Mr. Ballenger seconded, and Resolution 07-2025 was approved 5-0'

Resolution No. 08-2025, a resolution approving the Penny Martin Phase 4 Consultant Contract, was presented

by Mr. Lauer. This project consists of three (3) lane curb and gutter roadway with an underground storm drainage

system for approximately 1,400 linear feet from Lentz Avenue to Duke Street, and approximately 2,420linear

feet of water main. RRDA requested a proposalfrom Stand Associates, lnc., to complete the consultant services.

A proposal was returned for the amount of $125,500, with TIF to be used as the funding source. Mr. Lenfert

offered a motion to approve, Dr. Hodges seconded, and Resolution 08-2025 was approved 5-0.

Controller's Report: Ms. Durrett presented claims for payment in the amount of $1,795,792.68, including a

recently received invoice from Cincinnati lnsurance in the amount of $26,075 (check #19462 dated 112112025)

Note, the original check regi ster supplied in the Board packet showed a total of $1,769,717.68. Claims will be

paid using 2022 BAN funds in the amount of $65,752.60; 2Q24 Bond funds in the amount of $739,900.50;

Operating funds in the amou nt of $528,138.99; and, the remaining $462,000.59 from TIF funds. Dr. Hodges

offered a motion to approve PaYm ent of the claims, Mr. Meyer Seconded, and the check register was approved

5-0.

General Counsel's Report: Mr. Fifer had no public report. However, he made note that a resolution approving

TIF funds (no excess assessed value or TIF revenues for release in 2A25) should be presented at the February

Board meeting, as such resolution has been presented in years past. (Reference Resolution 11-2024, presented

at the March 2024 meeling). Ms. Wyman took note.

Adiournment: The floor was opened for questions or comments from the Board, RRDA staff, and the audience.

Mr. Meyer commented on the professionalism of the RRDA maintenance team and congratulated them on a job

well done for the recent snow removal within the commerce center.

There being no further comments or questions, Dr. Bennett offered a motion to adjourn, Mr. Meyer seconded,

and the Board approved the motion to adjourn the meeting by a vote of 5-0 at 3:00 pm.

Respectfu I ly su bm itted

Brian Lenfert, Secretary/Treasurer
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RESOLUTIoN NO.09-2025

A RESOLUTION ACCEPTING THE DRAFT 2024 RRDA AUDIT

WHEREAS, the River Ridge Development Authority (RRDA) engaged Cherry Bekaert

LLp to perform an audit of its financial transactions for fiscal year 2024 in accordance with

govemment standards and generally accepted accounting standards; and,

WHEREAS, the draft audit report has been completed by Cherry Bekaert LLP whose

representatives reviewed the audit report results with RRDA Board members at its regular

meeting on February 20,2025.

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF

THE RIVER RIDGE DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY AS FOLLOWS:

The draft audit report referenced above as prepared by Cherry Bekaert LLP for

fiscal year 2024 is hereby accepted by the River Ridge Development Authority,

and Cherry Bekaert LLP is requested to finalize the audit report and deliver a

copies to the Executive Director and Controller at its earliest convenience.

SO RESOLVED BY MAJORITY VOTE OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

TAKEN DURING A DULY NOTICED AND CONVENED REGULAR MEETING OF

THE RIVER RIDGE DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY HELD ON FEBRUARY 20,2025.

Attest: Dr. Treva Hodges, President

Attest: Brian Lenfert, Secretary/Treasurer
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Report of Independent Auditor

To the Board of Directors
River Ridge Development Authority
Jeffersonville, lndiana

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements

Opinion
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the River Ridge Development Authority

(the "Authority"), as of and for the'yeais ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, and the related notes to the financial

statements, which collectively comprise the Authority's basic financial statements as listed in the table of contents.

ln our opinion, the 1nancial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial

position of the Authority, as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, and the changes in financial position and its cash

ilows for the years then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States

of America.

Basis for Opinion
We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of

America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued

by the Comptroller General 
'of 

the United States. Our responsibilities under those standards are further

described in the Audifor's Responsib itities for the Audit of the Financial Statemenfs section of our report. We are

required to be independent of the Authority and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, in accordance with the

relevant ethical requirements relating to our audit. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is

sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Responsib ilities of Management for the Financial Sfafemenfs
Manigement is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance

with iccounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and for the design,

implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial

statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

ln preparing the financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are conditions or

events, conlidered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the Authority's ability to continue as a

going concern for twelve monlns beyond the financial statements date, including any currently known

information that may raise substantial doubt shortly thereafter.
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Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audits of the Financial Sfafemenfs
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from

material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance and, therefore, is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards and Government

Auditing Sfandards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. The risk of not detecting a material

misstatlement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,

forgery, intentional om'issions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. Misstatements are considered

material if there is a substantiat likeiihood that, individually or in the aggregate, they would influence the judgment

made by a reasonable user based on the financial statements.

ln performing an audit in accordance with generally accepted auding standards and Government Auditing

Sfandards, we:

. Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.

. ldentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud

or error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures include

examining, on a telt basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.

. Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that

are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the

effectiveness of the Authority's internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed'

. Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant

accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the financial

statements.

. Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that

raise substantial doubt about-the Authority's ability to continue as a going concern for a reasonable

period of time.

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the

planned scope and timing of the audits, significant audit findings, and certain internal control related matters that

we identified during the audits.

Required Supplementary lnformation
Accounting prin-ciptes generally accepted in the United States of America require that the management's

discussion- and analysii be presented to supplement the basic financial statements. Such information is the

responsibility of management and, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by the

Governmenial Accountlng Standards Board who considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for

placing the basic financiil statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical context. We have

applied certain limited procedures to the required supplementary information in accordance with auditing

siandards generally accepted in the United States of America, which consisted of inquiries of management

about the methods of preparing the information and comparing the information for consistency with

management's responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained

during our audit of the basic financial statements. we do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on

the information because the limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion

or provide any assurance.
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S u pplementary I nfo rm ation
Oui audit was conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the financial statements that collectively

comprise the Authority's basic financial statements, The tax increment revenue bond amortization schedules

and the schedule of expenditures of federal awards, as required by Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations Pat

200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards, are

presented for purposes of additional analysis and are not a required part of the basic financial statements. Such

information is the responsibility of management and was derived from and relates directly to the underlying

accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements. The information has been

subjectedlo the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements and certain additional

procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting and

other records used to prepare the basic financial statements or to the basic financial statements themselves,

and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States

of America. ln our opinion, the tax increment revenue bond amortization schedules and the schedule of
expenditures of federal awards are fairly stated, in all material respects, in relation to the basic financial

statements as a whole.

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards
ln accordahce with Govern ment Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated February 20,2025 on

our consideration of the Authority's internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its compliance
with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other matters. The purpose of

that report is to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting and compliance and

the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of internal control over financial

reporting or on compliince. That report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with

Governhent Auditing Standards in considering the Authority's internal control over financial reporting and

compliance.

Jeffersonville, lndiana
February 20,2025
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RIVER RIDGE DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY
MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

DECEMBER 31, 2024 AND 2023

As management of the River Ridge Development Authority (the "Authority"), we offer readers of the Authority's
financial statements this narrative overview and analysis of the financial activities for the fiscal years ended

December 31,2024 and 2023.

Nature of Authority and reporting entity

The Authority was established in 1998 under the laws of the State of lndiana and an interlocal agreement
between Clark County, the City of Charlestown, the City of Jeffersonville, the Town of Utica, and the lndiana

Port Commission. The Authority was established for the purpose of accepting conveyance of the lndiana Army

Ammunition Plant from the Uniied States Army, managing and leasing the real estate and improvements of the

Ammunition Plant, removing conditions of blight, and developing the Ammunition Plant into a commerce and

industrial park.

Overview of the financial statements

This annual report consists of both the Management Discussion and Analysis and audited financial statements.

The financial statements include notes that provide additional information relating to the Authority's financial

condition. Readers are encouraged to read the notes to better understand the financial statements.

Required financial statements

The Statemenfs of Ne/ Position - The Statements of Net Position present the Authority's assets, liabilities, and

deferred outflows of resources and provides information about the nature and amounts of investment in
resources (assets) and the obligations to creditors (liabilities). The Statements of Net Position also provide the

basis for evaluating the capital structure of the Authority and assessing the liquidity and financial flexibility of the

Authority.

The Statements of Revenues, Expenses and Changes rn Nef Position - The Statements of Revenues,

Expenses and Changes in Net Position identify the revenues generated and the expenses incurred during the

fiscalyear.

The Statemenfs of Cash Ftows- The Statements of Cash Flows provide information relating to the Authority's

cash receipts and cash expenditures during the fiscal year. The statements report cash receipts, cash

payments, and net changes in cash resulting from operations and provide answers to such questions as where

caih came from, what was cash used for and what was the change in the cash balance during the reporting

period.
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RIVER RIDGE DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY
MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2024 AND 2023

Financial Results

ASSETS
Current assets

Mncurrent assets

Capital assets, net

Other assets

Total Assets

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities

Other liabilities
Long{erm debt

Total Liabilities

Table'l
Condensed Statements of Net Position

lncrease
Decrease)

lncrease

2024 2023 2022

$ 110,419,048
7,754,824

123,575,810

5,128,235

$ 67,361,081

6,246,017
112,791,666

$ 43,057,967
1,508,807

10,784,144
(351,555)

$ 39,713,389
5,155,056

102,185,823

$27,647,692
1,090,961

10,605,843

5,479,790 7,581,906 (2,102,116)

246,877,917 191,878,554 363 1M,636,17L 37

31,475,334
27,538

103,275,000

29,049,607
68,M0

76,765,000

2,425,727
(40,e02)

19,066,064

562jU
80,1 70,000

9,983,543
(493,724)

26,510,000 (3,405,000)

134,777,872 105,883,047 28,894,825

(102,25s)

798.228 6,084,81999,

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES 102.255 204 509 (102,2M)

Net in\€stment in capital assets

Unrestricted

Total Net Position

Total rev-.nues, i ncludi ng nonoperati ng re\€nues

Totial epenses, including nonoperating epenses

Changes in Net Position

18,320,239
93,779,806 75,804,970

s 1 12.100.045 $ 85.893.252

2024

10,088,282 8,231,957 28,8U,261
17,974,836

$ 26,206,793

(18,745,979)
50,005,79425,799,176

$ 437 $ 31,259,815

lncrease

Total assets increased $54,999,363 in2024. Restricted cash increased by $25,522,903 which was caused by a

current year bond anticipation note ("BAN") issue. The capital asset increase of $10,784,144 was attributable to

infrastructure projects completed in 2024.

Long-term liabilities increased $28,894,825 primarily as a result of the BAN issue noted above'

Total net position increased $26,206,793 in 2024. This increase was primarily the result of land sales that

occurred in 2024.

Table 2

Condensed Statements of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes Net Position

lncrease

$ 56,399,623
30,1 92,830

_$_eq49J93_ .815 $ (5,053,022) $ 12,

2023 (Decrease) 2022 (Decrease)

$ 48,707 ,377 $ 7,692,246 $ 27,910,870 $ 20,796,507

't7 447 562 12,745,268 15,848,865 1,598,697

$ 19,197,810$31

Once again in 2024 RRDA experienced a carryover of the increased industrial activity from 2023 resulting in

land sales of $30,052,584. RRDA continued to build on its attraction of several new industrial sectors as

compared to years preceding 2023.
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RIVER RIDGE DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY
MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2024 AND 2023

Required financial statements (continued)

1n2024, the Authority sold approximately 260 acres with proceeds of $30,656,204, compared to 630 acres and

$44,913,915 in 20i3. New'lnvestments for 2024 included: 86.364 acres by Canadian Solar US Cell

Manufacturing Corporation, 48 acres to Duke Energy lndiana, LLC, 37.3 acres by Cheesecake Factory Bakery

lncorporated,-15.003 acres to Scannell Properties #740,LLC,14.525 acres to Pizzuli River Ridge LLC, 13.483

acres to CLOP Jeffersonville lN LLC, 12.509 acres to Garden Grove Properties LLC,8.462 acres to Rak Real

Estate Equities-Alliance, LLC, 8.139 acres to 1140 Patrol Road LLC, 8.140 acres to Summit Construction, LLC,

6.4 acres to Block LLC, 6.306 acres to RRDA fract22F LLC, 3.037 acres to CGKY Real Estate Holdings, LLC,

2.990 acres to D.A. lnc.

Future Operations

The Authority expects 2025 land sales to be considerably less than the levels experienced in 2024. Project

activity will ilso likely decrease throughout the year. Urban Enterprise Zone ("UEZ") and Tax lncrement

Finaniing ("TlF') revehues should continue to increase due to assessments of recent private investments in the

River Ridge Commerce Center.

The Authority will continue to make additional investments in major site improvements and infrastructure

necessary tosupport potential new private investments. ln2024 the Authority invested an additional $18.61

million in those improvements. The 2025 projects are expected to total approximate! [a1.6 million which will be

funded through existing bonds, TIF revenues and a new 2025 bond anticipation note ("BAN").

Requesfs for Additional tnformation - This report is intended to provide readers with a general overview of the

Authority's finances and to provide information regarding the receipts and uses of funds. lf you need clarification

regarding a statement(s) made in the report or need additional information, please contact the office of

Riier Ridge Developmeni Authority at 300 Corporate Drive Suite 300, Jeffersonville, lndiana 47130.
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RIVER RIDGE DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY
STATEMENTS OF NET POSITION

DECEMBER 31, 2024 AND 2023

ASSETS

Current Assets:

Cash

Resticted cash - bond proceeds

Accounts receivable

Lease receirable - current portion

Prepaid epenses

Total Current Assets

Noncurrent Assets:

Cash held for debt service and deposits

Total Noncurrent Assets

CapitalAssets:
Buildings
Land - common areas

Equipment
Vehicles

lnfrastructure
Furniture and fixtures

Construction in process

Service rights

Less accumulated depreciation and amortizati on

Capital assets, net

Real estate available for sale

Total Assets

$ 82,470,768

25,935,744
1,913,627

2024 2023

$ 23,790,511
412,U1

42,993,688
130,727

98,909 33 314

110,419,048 67,361 ,081

7, 79,824 6,246,017

7, 7U.824 6,246,017

4,968,168
1,388,415

1,881,452

869,477

129,296,993
111,461

24,463,053
12,000,000

4,968,168

1,388,415
1,824,395

774,561

117,446,104
109,877

16,484,223

12,000,000

174,979,019 1U,995,743
(51,403, 209) (42, 204,077)

123 .810 112,791,666

5,128,235 5 79 790

78.554$ 246,877.917 $ 191

The accompanying notes to the financial statements are an integral part of these statements.
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RIVER RIDGE DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY
STATEMENTS OF NET POSIION (CONTINUED)

DECEMBER 31, 2024 AND 2023

2024 2023

LIABILITIES

Current Liabilities:

Accounts payable and accruals

Current portion of bonds payable

Bond anticipation notes

Bond interest payable

Advanced rental payments

Accrued compensated absences

Total Current Liabilities

Noncurrent Liabilities:

Security deposits

Escrow deposits

Bonds payable

Total Noncurrent Liabilities

Total Liabilities

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES

Deferred inflows related to lease receiwble

Total Deferred lnflows of Resources

NET POSITION

Net inwstment in capitalassets
Unrestricted

Total Net Position

$ 1,698,953

3,490,000

24,426,315
1,732,315

1,543

126,208

$ 1,376,907

3,405,000

22,946,225
1,199,767

1,498

120,210

31,475,334 29,049,607

27,538 23,M0
45,000

765.000103,275,000 76,

103,302.538 76 833 MO

134,777,872 105,883,047

102,255

102.255

18,320,239

93,779,806

$ 112,100,045

-

$ 85,

The accompanying notes to the financial statements are an integral part of these statements

10,088,282

75,804,970

893,252
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RIVER RIDGE DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY
STATEMENTS OF REVENUES, EXPENSES, AND CHANGES IN NET POSITION

YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2024 AND 2023

2024 2023

Operating Rercnues:

Rentalincome Rirer Ridge property

Urban Enterprise Zone income

Tax increment financing income

Recycling and scrap sale income

Land sale proceeds

Water sales

River Ridge Property Oaners Association dues

Total Operating Revenues

Cost of land/infrastructure sold or transferred

Cost of land sold

Total Cost of Land/lnfrastructure Sold or Transferred

Total Operating Revenues, Net

Operating Eryenses:

Payroll

Employee benefits

Payrolltaxes
Redevelopment epenses
Road and ground maintenance

Common area epense
Depreciation epense
Legal fees
Bond issuance fees

lnsurance
Marketing

Office equipment and supplies

Professional fees
Security
Training epense
Travel and meeting expense

Water supplies and contract

EnMronmental monitoring

Employee recruitment

Delrelopment obli gation expense

Total Operating Epenses

Operating lncome

59,970,343

(2,094,998) (12, 713.701\

(2,094p9ql (12, 713.701)'

48,567,352 47,256,642

$ 189,409

9,439,143

8,272,644
192,684

30,656,204
1,262,266

650,000

50,662,350

233,597

7,442,396

5,2il,661
95,053

44,913,915

1,',t82,243

u8,478

$

2,239,356
543,237
155,556

631,537
278,464

749,151

8,024,970
374,377

200,447

381,776

194,106

251,295
149,200

76,123
23,876

72,953
u6,127

1,895,404
485,006

130,360

540,2U
310,457

1,078,811

7,503,129
182,807

130,766

212,339
238,033

252,303

123,058

80,137
25,894

90,263

487,565

60,637

26,890

1,072,31210,35'1 969

25,U4,520

23,222,832

14,926.405

32,330.237

The accompanying notes to the financial statements are an integral part of these statements
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RIVER RIDGE DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY
STATEMENTS OF REVENUES, EXPENSES, AND CHANGES IN NET POSITION
(coNTTNUED)

YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2024 AND 2023

2024 2023

Nonoperating Revenues (Epenses):

lnterest income

lnterest epense
EDA grant income

Other income

Total Nonoperating Revenues (Epenses)

Changes in net position

Net position, beginning of year

Net position, end of year

$ 4,961,557
(3,M8,310)
1,587,507

83,207

2,983,961

$ 1,448,210
(2,521,157)

2,525

(.070.422\

26,206,793 31,259,815

5485

$ 112,100,045 $85

The accompanying notes to the financial statements are an integral part of these statements.
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RIVER RIDGE DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY
STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2024 AND 2023

2024 2023

Cash flows ftom operating activities:
Cash received from tenant, land sales, and others

Cash paid to suppliers, employees, and others

Urban Enterprise Zone income received

Net cash flows from operating activities

Cash flows ftom investing activates:
lnterest received

Other income

Net cash flows from investing actiMties

Cash flows from capitalfinancing activities:
Principal payments made on bonds

Purchases of capital assets

Grants received

Cash paid for interest epense
Proceeds received from borrowings, net of refinancing

Net cash flovrrs from financing actiVties

Net change in cash and restricted cash

Cash and restricted cash, beginning of year

Cash and restricted cash, end of year

Reconciliation of cash to the statement of net position

Cash
Restricted cash - bond proceeds

Cash held for debt service

Cash held for security deposits

Cash held for escrow deposits

Total cash

Noncash activities:
Real estate held for sale transferred to land - common areas

74,129.482 9,172,842

$ 80,195,885
(15,505,il6)

9,439,143

$ 8,583,821
(6,853,375)

7 396

4,961,557

83,207

5,044,764

(3,405,000)

(20,00e,114)

1,587,507
(3,115,762)
31,480,090

1,448,210

2,525

1 735

(3,620,000)

(40,777,563)

(1,e65,e16)

21 882 012

6,537 ,721 (24,481,467)

85,711,967

30,449,369

$ 116,161,336

(13,857,890)

44,307,259

$ 30,449,369

$ 82,470,768

25,935,744

7,727,286
27,538

$ 23,790,511
412,Ul

6,177,577
23,440

45 000

$ 116, 161,336 $ 30,449,369

$ $ (1,388,415)
+

The accompanying notes to the financial statements are an integral part of these statements.
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RIVER RIDGE DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY
STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)

YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2024 AND 2023

Reconciliation of net operating income to net cash flows from

operating activities:
Operating income

Adjustments to reconcile operating income to net cash flows

from operating activities:

Depreciation epense
Amortization epense
Service rights transferred to cost of land sold

Changes in assets and liabilities:

Accounts receiwble
Prepaid epenses
Real estate available for sale

Lease receivable

Deferred inflows of resources

Accounb payable and accruals

Adranced rental payments

Accrued compensated absences

Security deposits

Escrow deposits

Net cash flows from operating activities

2024 2023

$ 23,222,832 $ 32,330,237

8,024,970
1,200,000

7,503,129

12,000,000

41,080,061
(65,595)

351,555
130,727

(102,255)
322,046

45

5,998
4,098

(45,000)

$ 74,129,482 $e, 172.842

The accompanying notes to the financial statements are an integral part of these statements

(42,761,e38)

37,947

713,701
127,448

(102,2U)
(205,e31)

43

24,1U
(2,500)

491,224\
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RIVER RIDGE DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

DECEMBER 31, 2024 AND 2023

Note 1-Nature of operations

River Ridge Development Authority (the "Authority" or "RRDA") was established in '1998 under the laws of the

State of lndiana and an interlocal agreement between Clark County, the City of Charlestown, the City of

Jeffersonville, the Town of Utica and the lndiana Port Commission. The Authority was established for the

purpose of accepting conveyance of the lndiana Army Ammunition Plant from the United States Army,

managing and leasing the reai estate and improvements of the Ammunition Plant, removing condrtions of blight'

and developing the Ammunition Plant into a commerce and industrial park.

Note 2-Summary of significant accounting policies

This summary of significant accounting policies of the Authority is presented to assist in understanding the

Authority's financial statements. The financial statements and notes are representations of the Authority's

management, who is responsible for their integrity and objectivity. These accounting policies conform to

,""ou-nting principles generally accepted in the United States of America ("U.S. GAAP") and have been

consisteniiy'applied inlhe preparation of the financial statements. The Governmental Accounting Standards

Board ("GASd") is tne accepted standard setting body for establishing governmental accounting and financial

reporting principles.

The significant accounting policies of the Authority are as follows:

Basis of Accounting - The financial statements are presented using the accrual basis of accounting with an

economic resources' measurement focus. Under this method, revenues are recorded when earned and

expenses are recorded at the time liabilities are incurred. As permitted by U.S. GAAP, the Authority has elected

to apply all relevant GASB pronouncements in the preparation of the financial statements.

Basls of Presentation - These financial statements represent the Authority (primary government). There are no

other component units which require inclusion. All of the Authority's programs are accounted for as one

business{ype activity for financial reporting purposes. This financial statement presentation provides an

indication of the financial performance of the Authority as a whole. Enterprise designations are used to account

for activities if any of the following criteria applies: (a) The activity is financed with debt that is solely secured by

pledge of the nei revenues from fees and charges of the activity; (b) laws or regulations that require that the

activity's costs of providing services be recovered with fees and charges rather than taxes or similar revenues;

or (c) the pricing policies of the activity establish fees and charges designated to recover its costs.

Cash Equivalenfs - The Authority considers all short{erm investments with an original maturity of three months

or less to be cash equivalents. There were no cash equivalents at December 31,2024 and 2023'

Accounts Receivable - Accounts receivable consists of amounts due from tenants for monthly lease payments.

The Authority uses the allowance for bad debts method of valuing doubtful accounts receivable, which is based

on historical experience, coupled with a review of the current status of existing receivables. Management has

determined no allowance was required at December 31,2024 and 2023.

13



RIVER RIDGE DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

DECEMBER 31, 2024 AND 2023

Note 2-Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

Capital Assefs - Capital assets are recorded at cost. Maintenance and repairs are charged to expense as

incurred; major renewals or betterments are capitalized. Gain or loss on retirements or dispositions of assets is

charged to operations, and respective costs and accumulated depreciation are eliminated from the accounts.

Depreciation is provided on the estimated useful lives of the assets using the straight-line method. The

estimated useful lives are 40 years for buildings, 5 to 7 years for office equipment, 7 to 10 years for furniture and

fixtures, 5 years for vehicles, and 20 years for infrastructure.

Service rights intangible assets represent commitments made to the city of Charlestown, lndiana which

guarantee-the Authoiity's rights to continue using wastewater lines throughout the River Ridge commerce and

industrial park. The assets are being amortized over 10 years.

Reat Estate Availabte for Sate - Real estate available for sale is property purchased and developed by the

Authority and resold to businesses that locate within the River Ridge commerce and industrial park. Real estate

available for sale is carried at acquisition cost.

Land Sale Proceeds - The Authority records proceeds from the sale of land at the gross sales price, net of cost of

land sold, which includes the original price/acre the Authority paid for the land, real estate commissions and costs

of improvements made to the land. At December 31, 2024 and 2023, gross land sale proceeds were $30,656'204
and g44,913,915, respectively, and costs of land sold were $2,094,998 and $12,713,7O1, respectively.

Revenue Recognition - The Authority recognizes revenue when earned and not when received. Advanced and

unearned rentals arise when potential revenue does not meet both the measurable and available criteria for

recognition in the current period.

The Authority distinguishes operating revenues and expenses from nonoperating items. Operating revenues

and expenses generally result from providing services in connection with the Authority's principal ongoing

operations. Principal operating revenues consist of land sale proceeds, Urban Enterprise Zone income and Tax

lncrement Financing income.-Operating expenses include payroll, redevelopment expenses, depreciation, and

other generat operating expenses. Ali revenues and expenses not meeting these criteria are reported as

nonoperating revenues and expenses, including interest income and capital asset transactions.

lJse of Resfrrcfed and lJnrestricted Resources - Restricted resources are primarily for specific infrastructure

improvements and development activities. However, when both restricted and unrestricted resources are

available for operational use, it is the Authority's policy to use restricted resources first, and then unrestricted

resources as they are needed.

Lease Receivabte and Deferred tnftow of Leases - The Authority recognizes a lease receivable and a deferred

inflow of resources on leases at commencement of the lease term, with certain exceptions for regulated leases

and short{erm leases. The lease receivable is measured at the present value of the lease payments expected

to be received during the lease period. The deferred inflow on leases is measured as the value of the lease

receivable in addition to any payments received at or before the commencement of the lease term that relate to

future periods. Revenue from tne included leases is recognized by amortizing the deferred inflow on a straight-

line basis.

Recent Pronouncements - ln June of 2022, GASB Statement No. 101 , Compensated Absences, was issued.

The requirements of this Statement align recognition and measurement guidance for all types of compensated

absences under a unified model, resulting in greater consistency and improved comparability. The Authority

implemented this standard effective January 1,2024 with no materialimpact.
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RIVER RIDGE DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

DECEMBER 31, 2024 AND 2023

Note 3-Restricted cash and cash held for debt service and deposits

The Authority obtains financing for future infrastructure improvements planned at River Ridge Commerce Center

through the issuance of bondi (see Note 6 for additional information on the bonds payable). At December 31,

2024 and 2023, $25,935,744 and $412,841 in unspent bond proceeds, respectively, was available to fund

anticipated future improvements and is classified as restricted cash and restricted net position on the statements

of net position.

The Authority has established debt service for the repayment of bond debt (see Note 6 for additional information

on the bonds payable). The funds are made up of proceeds from Tax lncrement Financing income and

Urban Enterprise Zone' income. At December 31, 2024 and 2023, the balance of the debt service was

$7,727,286 and $6,177,577, respectively. These amounts are classified as cash held for debt service and

deposits and unrestricted net position on the statements of net position at December 31,2024 and 2023,

respectively.

Security deposits total $27,538 and $23,440 at December 31 , 2024 and 2023, respectively, and represent

depositi made by tenants for property leased from the Authority. The liability for such deposits at December 31,

20b4 ana 2023 was $27,538 anO $Ze,++0, respectively. These funds are classified as cash held for debt service

and deposits on the statements of net position.

Escrow deposits consist of earnest money received for potential future real estate transactions. Escrow deposits

totaled $-0- and $45,000 at December 31,2024 and 2023, respectively. The liability for such deposits at

December g1,2024 and2023 was $-0- and $45,000, respectively. These funds are classified as cash held for

debt service and deposits on the statements of net position.

Note 4-Capital assets

The following is a summary of the capital assets activity during the year ended December 31,2024:

Balance at
December 31,

2023

Balance at
December 31,

2024

$ 4,968,168

1,388,4'15

1,881,452
869,477

129,296,993

111,461

24,463,053

12

Buildings

Land - common areas

Equipment

Vehicles
lnfrastructure
Furnifure and fixtures

Construction in process

SerMce rights

Less accumulated depreciation

and accumulated amortization

Capital assets, net

Additions Transfers Dispositions

$$$

82,895
94,916

515

(25,838)

19,830,788

11,850,374
1,5U

(11,851,958)

$ 4,968,168

1,388,415
1,824,395

774,561
117,446,104

109,877

16,4U,223
12,000,000

1U,995,743 20,009,114 (25,838) 174,979,019

(42,204,077) 970) 25,838 (51,403,209)

$10,7U,144 $ _$12982ff19_$ 1 12,791 ,666

15
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RIVER RIDGE DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

DECEMBER 31, 2024 AND 2023

Note 4-Capital assets (continued)

The following is a summary of the capital assets activity during the year ended December 31,2023:

Balance at
December 31,

2022

$ 4,699,781 $

Balance at
December 31,

Buildings

Land - common areas
Equipment

Vehicles
lnfrastructure
Furniture and fixtures

Construction in process

Service rights

Less accumulated depreciation

Capital assets, net

Additions Transfers Disoositlons
$ 268,387 $

'1,388,415

(266,3e5)
(37,971)

$ 4,968,168

1,388,415

1,824,395
774,561

117,446,104
109,877

16,4U,223
12,000,000

1,687,508

812,532
99,469,509

109,877

18,354,924
12,000,000

137,134,131
(34,948,308)

403.282

17,976,595

16,374,281 (18,244,982)

12,000,000 (12,000,000)

28,777,563 1,388,415
(7 129\ 077\

_$1qa !,8?9_ 
-4,n!,4u___$_1,398415_ 

_$ll?,057,0061 $112,791,666

(12,304,366)
247,360

154,995,743

Depreciation and amortization expense were $9,224,970 and $7,503,129 for the years ended December 31,

2024 and 2023, respectively.

Note S-Real estate available for sale

At various dates starting in 2005, through quitclaim deeds, the United States of America, acting by and through

the Deputy Assistant Slcretary of the Army, entered into agreements with the Authority to deed land to the

Authoriiy. ihe agreements staie that in accordance with the Federal Act, the Authority shall pay to the Army a

monetary consid-eration for conveyance of the property to the Authority (the "Conveyance Consideration") as

agreed upon in the deed agreements.

According to the agreements, the Conveyance Consideration shall be paid to the United States Army no later

than ,10 ylars after the date of conveyance of the property. The final conveyance of property occurred during the

year ended December 31,2016. During the year ended December 31,2018, the Authority paid the Conveyance

bonsideration in full using reconciliation credits. The Authority is currently making improvements to the land and

holding it available for saie to the extent the property is not subject to prior lease by the Authority.

Real estate available for sale totaled $5,128,235 and $5,479,790 at December 31, 2Q24 and 2023, respectively,

and consisted of approxim alely 3,226 and 3,490 acres, respectively.

Note 6-Long-term debt

During May 2O14,the Authority obtained financing for future infrastructure improvements planned at River Ridge

Commerce Center through a bond issuance of $2b,000,000 (Tax lncrement Revenue ("TlR') Bonds). The bon_ds

were issued May 23, iOl+ ana were set to mature February 1,2034. The bond bore interest at 4'60%.

During 2019, the- Authority refinanced the bonds through a bond issuance of $16,270,000 (Tax lncrement

Reveiue Refunding Bondi 2019 ("TtRR")Series A. The refinanced bonds bear interest at2.69%. Principal and

interest are payabl6 semiannuallyand payments began on February 1,2020.The remaining principal balance

on the bonds ai December 31,2024 and 2023 was $10,855,000 and $1 1 ,965,000, respectively.

16



RIVER RIDGE DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

DECEMBER 31, 2024 AND 2023

Note 6-Long-term debt (continued)

During May 20'18, the Authority issued tax increment revenue bond anticipation notes ("BANs") in the amount of

$1S,5-00,000 to temporarily fund capital projects prior to the issuance of serial revenue bonds. The note was

issued on May 23,i018 and was setto mature August 1,2020. The note bore interest at3.45%. Principal on

the note was due in one installment at maturity. During 2019, the Authority refinanced the BANs through a bond

issuance of $18,750,000 TIRR Series B. The refinanced bonds mature on August 1,2039 and bear interest at

3.0g%. Principal and interest are payable semiannually and payments began on February 1, 202-0. 
_th-e

remaining principal balance on the bonds at December 31,2024 and2023 was $'16,970,000 and $17,305'000'
respectively.

During August 2021, the Authority issued tax increment revenue bonds in the amount of $29,670'000 to

refina-nce rLrious obligations as noted above. The bonds were issued August 16, 2021, and bear interest at

1.7go/o. Principal andlnterest are payable semiannually and payments began February 1,2022 and have a

maturity date of August 1, 2036. The iemaining principal balance on the bonds at December 31,2024 and 2023

was $24,805,000 and $26,295,000, respectively.

During December 2022, the Authority issued tax increment revenue bonds in the amount of $25,345'000 to

refina-nce various obligations as noted above. The bonds were issued December 20,2022, and bear interest at

3.0S%. Principal and interest are payable semiannually and payments began February 1,2023 and have a

maturity date of August 1,2042. The iemaining principal balance on the bonds at December 31,2024 and 2023

was $24,135,000 and $24,605,000, respectively. The unspent bond proceeds at December 31,2024 and 2023

were approximately $425,000 and $413,000, respectively.

During December 2022, lhe Authority issued tax increment revenue bond anticipation notes in the amount of

$1,176,369 to temporariiy fund capital projects prior to the issuance of serial revenue bonds. The note was issued

on December 20,2022. ihe note bears interest at4.OO% which is payable in semiannual installments to begin on

February 1, 2023. Principal on the note is due in one installment at maturity. During 2024 and 2023, the Authority

drew down additional fund of $1,480,090 and $21 ,882,012 on the notes, respectively. The principal balance on the

notes at December 31,2024and2023was$24,426,315 and $22,946,225, respectively'

During June 2024, the Authority issued tax increment revenue bond anticipation notes in the amount of

$30,0-00,000 to temporarily fund capital projects prior to the issuance of serial revenue bonds. The note was

issued June 5, 2024. The note bears interest at 3.89% which is payable in semiannual installments to begin on

August 1,2024. Principal on the note is due in one installment at maturity. The remaining principal balance on

the notes at December 31, 2024 was $30,000,000. The unspent bond proceeds at December 2024 was

approximately $25,500,000.

Bond interest payable at Decembe r 31,2024 and 2o23was $1 ,732,315 and $1 ,1gg,767, respectively.
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RIVER RIDGE DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

DECEMBER 31, 2024 AND 2023

Note 6-Long-term debt (continued)

Long-term debt activity for the year ended December 31, 2024 was as follows

Balance

December 31,

2023

llR Bond o'f 2019, Series A
TIR Bond of 2019, Series B

TIRRR Bonds - Series 2021

TIR Bond of 2022
2022 Bond Antic i pation Note

2024 Bond Anticipation Note

TIR Bond of 2019, Series A
TIR Bond of 2019, Series B

TIRRR Bonds - Series 2021

TIR Bond of 2022

2022 Bond Anti c i pation Note

$103.116,225 $ 31,480,090 $ (3,405,000) $131,191,315 $27,916,315

$ 11,965,000 $

17,305,000

26,295,000
24,605,000
22,946,225 1,480,090

$ 10,855,000

16,970,000
24,805,000
24,1 35,000
24,426,315

$ 1,140,000

345,000

1,525,000

480,000

24,426,315

Additions

Balance
December 31,

2024

Amounts
Due Within
One YearPayments

$ (1,110,000)

(335,000)

( 1,4e0,000)
(470,000)

Refinanced

$

30, 000,000

$

Long-term debt activity for the year ended December 31,2023 was as follows

Balance
December 31,

2022 Additions Payments

$ (1,080,000)
(330,000)

(1,470,000)
(740,000)

Refinanced

$

Balance
December 31,

Amounts
Due Within
One Year

$ 13,045,000 $

17,635,000
27,765p00
25,345,000

$ 11,965,000 $

17,305,000
26,295,000
24,605,000

1 ,1 10,000

335,000
1,490,000

470,000

3 21,882,012 22,946 ,225

$ 3 $ 21,882,012

As of December 31 , 2024, bonds mature as follows

$ (3,620,000) $ 116.225 $ 26,351 .225$103,

Principal lnterest Total

2025

2026

2027

2028
2029

2030 - 2034
2035 - 2039

2040 - 2043

Total

$ 27,916,315
3,570,000

3,655,000

3,745,000

33,830,000

20,615,000
22,730,000

3,142,814
3,060,035
2,973,101

2,885,096

2,600,355

6,702,788
4,148,140

31,059,129
6,630,035

6,628,101

6,630,096

36,430,355
27,317,788

26,878,140

15,947,930

$ $

Note 7-Advanced rental payments

The Authority recognizes rent paid by tenants for future periods as advanced rental payments on the statements

of net position. Th; liability for advinced rental payments at December 31 ,2024 and 2023 was $1,543 and

$1,498, respectively.

15, 130,000 817 930

$ 131,191,315 $ 26,330,259 $ 157,521,574
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RIVER RIDGE DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

DECEMBER 31, 2024 AND 2023

Note 8-Defined contribution Plan

The Authority has established a 401(a) retirement plan for all eligible employees. All employees are eligible

upon the beginning of their employment. Employer contributions to the Plan are based upon 6% of each eligible

employee's iompensation. Contributions to the Plan totaled $130,869 and $108,328 for the years ended

December 31,2024 and 2023, respectively. These amounts are included in employee benefits in the statements

of revenues, expenses, and changes in net position.

Note 9-Leases receivable and deferred inflows of resources

On October 1,2014, the Authority entered into a 60-month lease as Lessor for the use of the Authority's

acreage. As of December 31 ,2025, the value of the lease receivable was $-0- and $73,864, respectively. The

value of the related deferred inflows of resources as of December 31 ,2024, and 2023, was $-0- and $57,777,

respectively, and the Authority recognized lease revenue of $94,369 and $72,012 during the years ended

December 31,2024, and 202i, respectively. The Authority recognized lease interest income of $11,717 and

$42,090 during the years ended December il, ZOZ+, and 2023, respectively. Lease income related to leases is

seen to derive from the operating activities of the Authority and is, therefore, included in Rental income River

Ridge property on the statements of revenue, expenses, and changes in net position.

On October 1,2019, the Authority entered into a 2O-month lease as Lessor for the use of the Authority's

acreage. As of December 31 , ZtiZ+, and 2023, the value of the lease receivable was $-0- and $56'863'
respeitively. The value of the related deferred inflows of resources as of December 31, 2024, and 2023, was $-

0- and $+i,+ZA, respectively, and the Authority recognized lease revenue of $56,864 and $55,436, during the

years ended December 31: 2024 and 2023, iespectively. The Authority recognized lease interest income of

$9,018 and $32,407 during the years ended December 31 , 2024, and 2023, respectively.

The Authority used its estimated incremental borrowing rate as of December 31,2020, to determine the present

values of the leases.

Both leases expired in 2024.

The deferred inflow on lease activity for fiscal year 2024 is as follows

Balance
December 31,

2023

Defered
Revenue

nized

Balance
December 31,

2024

$ 102,255 $ 102 .255 $
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RIVER RIDGE DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

DECEMBER 31, 2024 AND 2023

Note 9-Leases receivable and deferred inflows of resources (continued)

The deferred inflow on lease activity for fiscal year 2023 is as follows:

Balance Defered

December 31, Revenue

Balance

December 31,

20232022

$ 204 509 $ 102.254 $ 102,255

Note 10-Gash and cash held for restricted deposits

Cash deposits made in accordance with lC 5-13 with financial institutions in the State of lndiana were entirely

insured by the Federal Depository lnsurance Corporation or by the lndiana Public Deposit lnsurance Fund. This

includes iny deposit accounts issued or offered by a qualifying financial institution. Therefore, all cash values

are considered secured.

The carrying value of cash including restricted deposits at December31,2024 and2023 was $116,161,336 and

$30,449,'305, respectively. The banli balance at December 31 ,2024 and 2023 was $58,922,655 and $30,668'020'

respectively.

Note 1 1-Risk management

The Authority is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts; theft of, damage to, and destruction of assets;

errors and omissions; job related illnesses or injuries to employees; and natural disasters. These risks are

covered by commercial insurance from independent third parties. Settled claims from these risks have not

exceeded commercial insurance coverage for the past three years. There were no significant reductions in

insurance coverage by major category of risk.

Note 12-Environmental remediation

The United States Department of the Army is responsible for any environmental remediation of designated

areas as defined in the property deeds of conveyance issued to the Authority by the Army. Management

believes no accrual is necessary for environmental issues.

prior to expiration, the Authority renewed the environmental liability insurance policy in 2024. fhe environmental

liability insurance policy provides coverage forfive years beginning on September 16, 2024,wilh a maximum of

$20 mittion in payouts, either individually, or in the aggregate. This policy will protect the Authority from claims of

pollution inciO'enis and business interiuption coverage at insured sites. The Authority has determined the

insurance is necessary after a review by environmental attorneys. There have been no payouts through

December 31,2024 under this policy.

Note 1 3-Gommitments and contingencies

The Authority is subject to various legal actions and general asserted and unasserted claims arising in the

ordinary cour"" of iti business. Litigation is subject to many uncertainties; the outcome of individual litigated

matterj is not predictable with assurance. SfroutO any legal action occur, the Authority would defend itself

vigorously against any claims.
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RIVER RIDGE DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

DECEMBER 31, 2024 AND 2023

Note 13-Gommitments and contingencies (continued)

Development obligation expense for the year ended December 31,2024, and 2023 includes $10'351,969 and

$1,072',312, resp6ctively, related to RROR terminating a tenant's leasehold interest early. This amount

represents the appraised value of the tenant's remaining leasehold interest'

Note 14-Estimated cost of future land improvements

The Authority must continue efforts in site development and infrastructure improvements to establish marketable

land for purfoses of land sales. Conservative estimates for site development and infrastructure improvements

are at a minimum as follows:

2025

2026
2027

2028
2029
Thereafter

$ 41,600,000

26,400,000

20,000,000

20,000,000

20,000,000
72,000,000

$ 200,000,000
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RIVER RIDGE DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY
TAX INCREMENT REVENUE BONDS OF 2019, SERIES A - AMORTIZATION SCHEDULE

DECEMBER 31, 2024

Date

lnterest
Rate lnterest

Period
Total

Fiscal
Total

2t112025

8t1t2025
2t1t2026

81112026

2t1t2027

81112027

2t112028

81112028

2t1t2029

81112029

2t112030

8t112030

21112031

8t112031

2t1t2032

8t1t2032

2t1t2033

8t1t2033
2t1t2034

2.690/o

2.690/.

2.690/o

2.690/o

2.69%
2.690/o

2.690/o

2.690/o

2.69%
2.690/o

2.690/o

2.69Yo

2.690/o

2.690/o

2.69%
2.690/o

2.690/o

2.69%
2.69%

146,000

138,401

130,667

122,866

114,930

106,860

98,723
90,451

82,112
73,639

65,031

56,356
47,546
38,602

29,523
20,310

11,029

6,658
2,216

711,000

713,401

710,667

712,866

714,930

711,860

713,723

710,451

712,112

713,639
710,031

711,356

712,U6
713,602
714,523
710,310

336,029

336,658
167,216

1,424,401

1,423,533

1,426,790

1,424,174

1,425,751

1,421,387

1,426,148

1,424,833

672,687
167,216

Principal

$ sos,ooo
575,000

580,000

590,000

600,000

605,000

615,000
620,000

630,000
M0,000
645,000

655,000
665,000

675,000

685,000
690,000

325,000

330,000
165,000

$ $ $

$ 10,855,000 $ 1,381,920 $ 12,236,920 $ 12,236,920
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RIVER RIDGE DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY
TAX INCREMENT REVENUE BONDS OF 2019, SERIES B - AMORTIZATION SCHEDULE

DECEMBER 31, 2024

Date Principal
lnterest

Rate lnterest
Period
Total

Fiscal
Total

2t112025

81112025

2t112026

8t1t2026

2t1t2027

8t1t2027

21112028

81112028

2t112029

8t112029

2t112030

8t112030

2t1t2031

8t112031

2t1t2032
8t1t2032
2t112A33

8t1t2033
2t1t2034
81112034

2t112035

8t1t2035

2t112036

81112036

21112037

8t1t2037
2t1t2038
81112038

2t112039

8t1t2039

3.09%

3.09%
3.09%

3.09%

3.09%

3.09%

3.09%

3.09%

3.09%
3.09%

3.09%
3.09%

3.09%
3.09%

3.09%
3.09%
3.09%

3.09%
3.09%
3.09%
3.09%

3.09%

3.09%
3.09%
3.09%
3.09%
3.09%

3.09%
3.09%
3.09%

$ 170,000

175,000

180,000

180,000

180,000

185,000

185,000

195,000
195,000

195,000
200,000

205,000

205,000
210,000
210,000
220,OOO

595,000

605,000
25,000

190,000
195,000
195,000

200,000

205,000
1,870,000

1,900,000
1,930,000

1,960,000
1,990,000

2,020,000

$ 432,187 $

434,560

436,856

434,075

431,294

433,513

430,655
437,797

434,784
431,771

433,759

435,669
432,501

434,334
431,090
437,U5
809,446

810,253
220,906

385,520
387,584

38/,572
386,559

388,469
2,050,302
2,051,410
2,052,055

2,052,237
2,051,955

866,747

870,931

8il,807

868,452

866,555

869,428

866,835

868,935

1,619,699

606,426

772,156

775,028

4,101,712

4,104,292

$ 262,187

259,560
256,856

2il,075
251,294

248,513

245,655
242,797
239,7U
236,771

233,759

230,669

227,501
224,3U
221,090
217,845
214,446
205,253
195,906

195,520
192,5U
189,572

186,559
183,469

180,302

151,410
122,055

92,237
61,955

31 204 2 051 204 4,103 159

$ 6,055,162 $ 23,025,162 $ 23,025,162$ 16,970,000
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RIVER RIDGE DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY
TAX INCREMENT REVENUE BONDS OF 2021_ AMORTIZATION SCHEDULE

DECEMBER 31, 2024

Date Principal
lnterest

Rate lnterest
Period
Total

Fiscal
Total

21112025

8t112025

2t1t2026

8t112026

21112027

8t112027

2t1t2028

81112028

2t112029

81112029

2t1t2030

8t1t2030

21112031

8t1t2031

2t1t2032
8t1t2032
2t1t2033
8t1t2033

2t1t2034

8t1t2034
2t1t2035

8t1t2035
2t1t2036

8t1t2036

$ 760,000

765,000

930,000

610,000
780,000

795,000

795,000

810,000

815,000
815,000

830,000

835,000

835,000
850,000

860,000
860,000
870,000

890,000
1,630,000
'1,680,000

1,685,000

1,680,000
1,555,000

1,870,000

$ 24,805,000

222,005 $
215,203
208,356

200,033
194,573

187,592

180,477
173,362

166,112

158,818

151,524
144,095

136,622
129,149

121,il1
113,U4
106,147

98,361

90,395
75,807

60,771

45,690

30,69
16.731

982,005

980,203
1,138,356

810,033

974,573

982,592

975,477

983,362

981,112

973,818

981,524
979,095

971,622

979,149

981,541

973,844
976,147

988,361

1,720,395

1,755,807
1,745,771

1,725,690

1,585,654

1,886,731

1,962,208

1,948,389

1,957,165

1,958,839

1,954,930

1,960,619

1,950,771

1,955,385

1,gil,508

3,476,202

3,471,461

3,472,385

1.79o/o

1.79%
1.79%

1.79%

1.79o/o

1.79o/o

1.79o/o

1.79o/o

1.79%

1.79%

1.79o/o

1.79o/o

1.79%
1.79Yo

1.79o/o

1.79o/o

1.79%

1.79o/o

1.79%
1.79o/o

1.79%

1.79?/o

1.79o/o

1.790

$ $

$ 3,227,862 $ 28,032,862 $ 28,032,862
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RIVER RIDGE DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY
TAX INCREMENT REVENUE BONDS OF 2022 _ AMORTIZATION SCHEDULE

DECEMBER 31, 2024

Date Princioal
lnterest

Rate lnterest
Period
Total

Fiscal
Total

21112025

8t112025

2t1t2026

81112026

2t1t2027

81112027

2t112028

8t1t2028

21112029

81112029

2t112030

8t1t2030
2t1t2031

8t1t2031
2t1t2032
8t1t2032
2t112033

8t1t2033
2t1t2034
81112034

2t1t2035
81112035

2t112036

8t1t2036
2t112037

8t112037

2t1t2038
8t1t2038
2t112039

8t1t2039
2t1t2040
8t1t2040
2t1t2041

81112041

2t1t2042
81112042

$ 240,000

240,000

85,000

415,000

255,000

255,000

265,000

260,000

265,000
275,000

280,000

280,000
290,000

290,000

295,000
300,000

310,000
300,000
330,000

300,000

315,000
340,000
485,000

190,000

345,000
350,000

355,000

360,000

365,000
370,000

2,425,000
2,465,000

2,500,000

2,540,000

2,580,000

2,620,000

$ 24,135,000

368,059 $
364,399
360,739

359,443

353,114

349,225
345,336

341,295
337,330

333,289

329,095
324,825
320,555
316,133

311,710
307,211
302,636

297,909
293,3U
288,301

283,726
278,923
273,738
266,U1
263/M
258,1 83

252,U5
247,431
241,941

236,375
230,733
193,751
156,160

118,035

79,300

39,951

608,059

604,399
445,739

774,443

608,114

604,225

610,336

601,295
602,330

608,289

609,095
604,825

610,555

606,1 33

606,710
607,211

612,636

597,909
623,334

588,301

598,726

618,923
758,738
456,U1
608,444

608,1 83

607,845

607,431

606,941

606,375

2,655,733

2,658,751

2,656,160

2,658,035

2,659,300

2,659,951

1,212,458

1,220,182

1,212,339

1,211,631

1,210,619

1,213,920

'1,216,688

1,213,921

1,210,545

1,211,635

1,217,649

1,215,079

1,216,627

1,215,276

1,213,316

5,314,484

5,314,195

3.05%
3.05%
3.05o/o

3.05%

3.05%
3.05%
3.05%

3.05%
3.05%

3.05%

3.05%
3.05%

3.05%
3.05%

3.05%
3.05%

3.05%
3.05%

3.05%
3.05%

3.05%
3.05%

3.05%
3.05%
3.05Yo

3.05%

3.05%

3.05%

3.05%
3.05%

3.05%

3.05%

3.05%

3.05o/o

3.05o/o

3.05%

$ $

5,3 19.251

$ 10,024,815 $ 34,159,815 $ 34,159,815
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RIVER RIDGE DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY
SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL AWARDS

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2024

Federal

Assisla nce

Liding Number

Pass.through Entity

ldentifying

Number

Passed

Through to

Subrecipients

Federal

ExpendituresFederal Grantor/Pass.throuqh Grantor/Proqram or Cluster Title

U.S. Department of Commerce:

Direct program

Economic Oevelopmenl Cluster

ln\estments for Public Works and Economic

Dewlopment Facilities

Total U.S. Departmont of Commerce

I 1.300 $ $ 1,587,507

$ $ 1.587.507
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RIVER RIDGE DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY
NOTES TO SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL AWARDS

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31,2024

Note 1-Basis of presentation

The accompanying schedule of expenditures of federal awards ("Schedule") includes the federal grant activity of

the River iiOge Oevetopment Authority (the "Authority") under programs of the federal government for the year

ended Deceriber 31,2024. The information in this Schedule is presented in accordance with the requirements

of Tiile 2 U.S. Code of Federat Regutations Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requiremenfs, Cosf Principles,

and Audit Requirements of Federal-Awards ("Uniform Guidance"). Therefore, some amounts presented in this

Schedule may differ from amounts presented in, or used in the preparation of, the basic financial statements.

Note 2-Summary of significant accounting policies

Expenditures reported on the Schedule are reported on the accrual basis of accounting. Such expenditures are

recognized following the cost principles required by the Uniform Guidance, wherein certain types of

expenditures are not allowable or are limited to reimbursement.

Note 3-lndirect cost rate

The Authority has not elected to use the 1O% de minimis indirect cost rate allowed under the Uniform Guidance.
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Report of lndependent Auditor on lnternal Gontrol over Financial Reporting and on
Compliance and Other Matters Based on an Audit of Financial Statements

Performed in Accordance with Government Auditing Standards

Board of Directors
River Ridge Development Authority
Jeffersonville, lndiana

We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America

and the standards applicable to the financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards issued by the

Comptroller Generai of the United States, the financial statements of River Ridge Development Authority

(the';Authority") as of and for the year ended December 31,2024, and the related notes to the financial

statements, which collectively compiise the Authority's basic financial statements, and have issued our report

thereon dated February 20, 2025.

Report on lnternal Control over Financial Reporting
ln planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the Authority's internal control

over finan-cial reporting (;internal control") to determine the audit procedures that are appropriate in the

circumstances for the p*urpo"" of expressing our opinion on the financial statements, but not for the purpose of

expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Authority's internal control. Accordingly, we do not express an

opinion on the effectiveness of the Authority's internal control.

A deficiency in interna! control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow management or

employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct,

misstatements on a timely basis. A materia! weikness is a deficiency, or combination of deficiencies, in internal

control, such that there is reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the Authority's financial

statements will not be prevented or detected and corrected on a timely basis. A significant deficiency is a
deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe than a material weakness, yet

important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance.

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this section

and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material weaknesses, or

significant deficiencies. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any deficiencies in internal

control over financial reporting that we consider to be material weaknesses. However, material weaknesses or

significant deficiencies may exist that have not been identified.

Report on Compliance and Other Matters
As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the Authority's financial statements are free from

material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations,

contracts and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material effect on the

financial statements. H6wever, providing an opinion on compliance with those provisions was not an objective of

our audit and, accordingly, we do not express'such an opinion. The results of our tests disclosed no instances of

noncompliance or otheimatters that are required to be reported under Government Auditing Standards.
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Purpose of this Report
The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and compliance and

the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control or on

compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing

Standards in considering the entityis internal control and compliance. Accordingly, this communication is not

suitable for any other purpose.

Jeffersonville, lndiana
February 20,2025
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Report of lndependent Auditor on Compliance for
the Major Federal Program and Report on Internal Gontrol over

Compliance in Accordance with the Uniform Guidance

Board of Directors
River Ridge Development Authority
Jeffersonville, lndiana

Report on Compliance for the Major Federal Program

Opinion on the Maior Federal Program
W-e have audited the River Ridge Development Authority (the "Authority") compliance with the types of
compliance requirements identified as subject to audit in the OMB Compliance Supplement that could have a

direct and material effect on the Authority's major federal program for the year ended December 31, 2024. The
Authority's major federal program is identified in the Summ ary of Auditor's Resu/fs section of the accompanying

schedule of findings and questioned costs.

ln our opinion, the Authority complied, in all material respects, with the compliance requirements referred to

above that could have a direct and material effect on the major federal program for the year ended

December 31,2024.

Basis for Opinion on the Maior Federal Program
We conducted our audit of compliance in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United

States of America; the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards

issued by the Comptroller General of the United States; and the audit requirements of Title 2 U.S. Code of
Federat kegulations Part 200, lJniform Administrative Requiremenfs, Cosl Principles, and Audit Requirements
for FederatAwards ("Uniform Guidance"). Our responsibilities under those standards and the Uniform Guidance

are further described in the Auditor's Responsib ilities for the Audit of Compliance section of our report.

We are required to be independent of the Authority and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, in accordance
with relevant ethical requirements relating to our audit. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is

sufficient and appropriaie to provide a bisis for our opinion on compliance for the major federal program' Our

audit does not provide a legal determination of the Authority's compliance with the compliance requirements

referred to above.

Responsrb ilities of Management for Compliance
Manigement is responsible for compliance with the requirements referred to above and for the design,

implementation, and maintenance of effective internal control over compliance with the requirements of laws,

statutes, regulations, rules and provisions of contracts or grant agreements applicable to the Authority's federal

programs.

30



Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether material noncompliance with the compliance

requirements referred to above occurred, whether due to fraud or error, and express an opinion on the

Authority's compliance based on our audit. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not

absolute assurance and, therefore, is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with generally

accepted auditing standards, Government Auditing Standards, and the Uniform Guidance will always detect

material noncorfiliance when it exists. The risk of not detecting material noncompliance resulting from fraud is

higher than for that resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,

ri-sr"ptesentations, or the override of internal control. Noncompliance with the compliance requirements

referred to above is considered material, if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate'

it would influence the judgement made by a reasonable user of the report on compliance about the Authority's

compliance with the requirements of the major federal program as a whole'

ln performing an audit in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards, Government Auditing

Standards, and the Uniform Guidance, we:

. Exercise professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.

. ldentify and assess the risks of material noncompliance, whether due to fraud or error, and design and

perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures include examining, on a test

basis, evidence regarding the Authority's compliance with the compliance requirements referred to

above and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances.

. Obtain an understanding of the Authority's internal control over compliance relevant to the audit in order

to design audit procedu-res that are appropriate in the circumstances and to test and report on internal

control over compliance in accordance with the Uniform Guidance, but not for the purpose of expressing

an opinion on the effectiveness of the Authority's internal control over compliance. Accordingly, no such

opinion is expressed.

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the

planned scope and timing of the audit and any significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in internal

control over compliance that we identified during the audit.

Report on lnternal Control over Compliance
A deficiency in internal control over compliance exists when the design or operation of a control over compliance

does not allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to

prevent, or detect and correct noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal program on a

iimely basis. A materia! weakness in internat contro! over compliance is a deficiency, or combination of

deficiencies in internal control over compliance, such that there is a reasonable possibility that material

noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal program will not be prevented, or detected

and coriected, on a timeiy basis. A significant deficiency in internal control over compliance is a deficiency' or a

combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance with a type of compliance requirement of a
federal program that is less severe than a material weakness in internal control over compliance, yet important

enough to merit attention by those charged with governance.

Our consideration of internal control over compliance was for the limited purpose described in the

Auditor's Responsibitities for the Audit of Comptiance section above and was not designed to identify all

deficiencies in internal control over compliance that might be material weaknesses or significant deficiencies in

internal control over compliance. Given, these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any deficiencies in

internal control over compliance that we consider to be material weaknesses, as defined above. However,

material weaknesses or significant deficiencies in internal control over compliance may exist that were not

identified.
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Our. aUdit was rrot designed forthe purpose of expressing an opinion on the effective-ness of internal control over

eomplianee, Accordingly, no such opinion is,expressed'

The purpoee of this report on internal contrbl over complianee is solely to deeoribe the seope. of our.testin9 of

lnternal'eontrol over eompliance and the results of that testing based on tha requirementa of the

Uniform Guidance. Accordingly, this report is not suilAble for any Other purpose.

Jeffersonville. I ndiana
Fabruary 2A,2QZ5

nva
*r
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RIVER RIDGE DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY
SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2024

Section l-Summary of auditor's results

Financial Statements
Type of auditor's report issued on whether the financial
siatements audited were prepared in accordance to U.S. GAAP: Unmodified

lnternal control over financial reporting:

. Materialweakness(es) identified? yes X no

. Significant deficiency(ies) identified that are not considered to be material weaknesses

yes X none rePorted

Noncompliance material to financial statements noted? yes X no

FederalAwards
lnternal control over major federal program:

Material weakness(es) identified?

Significant deficiency(ies) identified that are
not considered to be material weaknesses

Type of auditor's report issued on compliance for major
federal programs:

Any audit findings disclosed that are required to be
reported in accordance with Section 516(a) of
Uniform Guidance

ldentification of major federal program

- 

yes none rePorted

Unmodified

yes X no

____x_ no

_ yes Xnoa

a

Assistance Listing Numbers
11.300

Dollar threshold used to distinguish between Type
A and Type B Programs $ 750,000

Auditee qualified as low-risk auditee? 

- 

yes

Section ll-Financial Statement Findings

No matters were reported.

Section lll-Maior FederalAward Findings and Questioned Gosts

No matters were reported.

Names of Federal Proqram or Cluster
lnvestments for Public Works and Economic Development
Facilities
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RIVER RIDGE DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY
SUMMARY SCHEDULE OF PRIOR YEAR FINDINGS

VEAR FNOED DEEEMBER 31. 2024

trlone reperted,

d

")

".\jnr\'bt
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RESOLUTIOI\ NO. 10.2025

A RESOLUTION DETERMINING AND DECLARING THAT THERE
ARE NO EXCESS PROPERTY TAX PAYABLE TO THE RIVER RIDGE

DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY ALLOCATION FUND TO BE ALLOCATED
DIIRING C AI,IINDAR YEAR 2025 THAT WII,L BE PAYABI,E, THE FOLLO G YEAR

WHEREAS, Ind. Code $ 36-7-30-25(bX4XA) requires each reuse authority to determine

before July 15 of each year the amount, if any, by which property taxes payable to in its allocation

area(s) in ihe following year will exceed the amount of property taxes necessary to make, when due,

principal and interest payments on bonds plus the amount necessary to satisfu other purposes

authorized by statute; and,

WHEREAS, Ind. Code g 36-7-30-25(b)(4XB) requires River Ridge Development Authority

("RRDA") to provide a written notice to the Clark County Auditor, the Clark County Council, and all

officers who are authorized to fix budgets, tax rates, and tax levies under Ind. Code $ 6-1.1-17-5 for

each of the other Clark County taxing units that are wholly or partly located within the RRDA

allocation area(s) as to whether there are any excess property tax proceeds that may be allocated to the

respective taxing units; and,

WHEREAS, RRDA has determined that there are no excess property tax proceeds that may be

allocated to the respective taxing units that are wholly or partly located within the RRDA allocation

area(s) during calendar year 2025.

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE

RIVER RIDGE DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY AS FOLLOWS:

The Executive Director is directed to provide written notice to the Clark County

Auditor, the President of the Clark County Council, and the executive and fiscal

officers of each of the other Clark County taxing units that are wholly or partly located

within the RRDA allocation area(s) stating that the RRDA has determined that there are

no excess property tax proceeds payable to the RRDA allocation fund for the following

year that may be allocated to other Clark County taxing units for calendar yeat 2025

payable in the following year.

SO RESOLVED BY AFFIRMATIVE VOTE OF THE RRDA BOARD OF DIRECTORS

TAKEN DURING A DULY NOTICED AND CONVENED REGULAR MEETING HELD ON

FEBRUARY 20,2025.

Attest: Dr. Treva Hodges, President

Attest: Brian Lenfert, Secretary/Treasurer



RESOLUTION NO. II-2OJ

A RESOLUTION APPROVING
AMEND TO THE 2025 RRDA BUDGET

WHEREAS, at its regularly scheduled meeting held on January 21, 2025, the River

Ridge Development Authority ("RRDA") Board adopted Resolution No. 1-2025 approving the

2025 RRDA budget; and,

WHEREAS, members of this Board have had an opportunity to review the approved the

2025 RRDA budget in greater detail, and now offer amendments to the line items shown on

attached Exhibit A; and,

WHEREAS, this Resolution is adopted for the pu{pose of amending the RRDA budget

for calendar year 2025 by approving the changes shown on attached Exhibit A.

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE RIVER RIDGE

DEVELOPMBNT AUTHORITY AS FOLLOWS:

The 2025 RRDA budget is hereby amended as shown on attached Exhibit A, and

all unamended line items are ratified and remain as previously approved in all

respects.

SO RESOLVED BY AFFIRMATIVE VOTE OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

TAKEN DURING A DULY NOTICED AND CONVENED REGULAR MEETING OF

THE RIVER RIDGE DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY HELD ON FEBRUARY 20,2025.

Attested: Dr. Treva Hodges, President

Attested Brian Lenfert, Secretary/Treasurer



2024

Year to Date

Actual
as of

!213L124

Total
Budget 2025 Proposed

Total
Budget

Amended
Total

Budset

Difference

2025-2024 %che.

100 Revenues 100 Revenues

Real Estate Sales Proceeds* 62,135,997 13,000,000 Real Estate Sales Proceeds 10,500,000 10,500,000

Urban Enterprise Zone lncome 9,O98,162 8,000,000 Urban Enterprise zone lncome 9,750,000 9,750,000

TIF lncome 8,272,644 7,800,000 TIF lncome 8,s00,000 8,500,000

lnterest lncome 3,478,776 3,005,000 lnterest lncome 3,200,000 3.200,000

Other Income 374,498 12,ooo Other lncome 15,000 15,000

Rental lncome RRDA Property 216,954 260,000 Rental lncome RRDA PropertY 200,000 200,000

RRPOA Collections 650,000 675,000 RRPOA Collections 67s,000 675,000

Late Fees 74,840 8,000 Late Fees 12,000 12,000

300 Corporate Shared ExPenses 176,632 130,000 300 Corporate Shared Expenses 130,000 130,000

Revenue Sharing 269,224 300,000 Revenue Sharing 150,000 150,000

Recvclins & Tool Sales 778,220 75,000 Recvclins & Tool Sales 50,000 50,000

Water Customer Payments 7,286,233 1,350,000 Water Customer Payments 1,350,000 1,350,000

Expenses Reimbursement (Meta) 89J,775 0 Expenses Reimbursement 3,000,000 3,000,000

EDA Federal Grant Reimbursement 7,427,372 0 EDA Federal Grant Reimbursement 0 0

Special Events Sponsorships s,000 0 Soecial Events SponsorshiPs 0 0

Transfer from Escrow 77,269 0 Transfer from Escrow 0 0

Retainage 9,702 50,000 Retainage 15,000 15,000

Total Revenues 88,259,238 34,66s,000 Total Revenues 17,547,00O 37,547,O00

200 Expenses 200 Expenses
2,732,907 2,466,600

0
176,900

144,O00

10,400

390,000

36,000

15,000

388,557

40,000
1,

0

Staffing 2,239,356 2,372,907 Staffins

EmDloyee Recruitment 0 15,000 Emplovee Recruitment

Payroll Taxes 754,687 165,000 Pavroll Taxes

Retirement r30,872 128,185 Retirement

Life I nsurance 71,989 10,100 Life I nsurance

Employee lnsurance 388,821 340,000 Emplovee lnsurance

HSA Match 35,183 40,000 HSA Match

State Unemployment Taxes 1,056 1,000 State Unemplovment Taxes

Temporary Labor 0 35,000 Temoorarv Labor

201 Personnel & Administration 2,952,958 3.L07,L92 201 Personnel & Administration 3.632.697 3,225,mO

Counsel 392,278 400,000 Soecial Counsel 400,000 400,000

Audit & Payroll Services 46,57r 55,000 Audit & Payroll Services 55,000 55,000

Financial Planning Consultant 86,367 60,000 Financial Planning Consultant 75,000 75,000

Bond lnterest 3,r75,762 3,121,803 Bond I nterest 3,880,000 3,880,000

Bond lssue Cost 0 170,000 Bond lssue Cost 170,000 170,000

Bond Debt Service 3,405,000 3,405,000 Bond Debt Service 3,970,000 3,970,000

I Services 250 2,500 Appraisal Services 3,500 3,500

GIS & Asset Data Services 5,828 30,000 GIS & Asset Data Services 10,000 10,000

Survevs 61,699 35,000 Survevs 70,000 70,000

MDA Expense 396,000 360,000 MDA Expense 396,000 396,000

Permits & Fees 23,784 10,000 Access Permits 15,000 15,000

Environmental Assessment 83 25,000 Environmental Assessment n 0

Consultant Services 163,32s 125,000 Consultant Services 150,000 150,000

Closing Costs 65s 0

Grant Administration 59,999 60,000 Grant Administration 10,000 10,000

202 ProfessionalServices 7,757,60L 7,859,303 202 ProfessionalServices 9,204,500 9,204,500

Note: 6 13 ac res of M eta site sa e closed I n late December 2023; but fu nds not received unti 2024. This accou nted

River Ridge Development Authority Proposed 2025 Budget

Cash Basis

Revised: 10:18 AM, 2/78/2025 FOR MANAGEMENT PURPOSES ONLY Page 1 of 3



River Ridge Development Authority Proposed 2025 Budget

Cash Basis

Year to Date

Actual

as of
rzl3Ll24

Total

Eudget 2025 Proposed

Total

Amended
Total

Budget

25,000

Difference
2025-2024 %Chc,.

conferences & Workshops 24,024 3s,000 Conferences & Workshops

EDA Memberships 39,851 40,000 EDA Memberships

Real Estate Commission 389,469 300,000 Real Estate Commission 300,000

20,000

40,000

55,000

fravel 1-4,230 40,000 Travel

Communication Consultant 20,000 84,000 Website Development

Marketins Material & Exhibits 2t,tr3 50,000 Marketins Material & Exhibits 25,000

5,00020,000

10,000
Marketins Consultant r,750 50,000 Marketins Consultant

Subscriptions 5,223 15,000 Web Hostins

Groundbreaking Events 7,853 0 Subscriptions 4,000 4,000

203 Marketing & Communications 569,710 5s4000 203 Marketing & Communications s54000 524000

RRDA Office Expenses 25,273 25,000 RRDA Office Expenses 25,000 2s,000

Shared Office Expenses 165,934 200,000 Shared Office Expenses 200,000

15,000

15,000

20,000

Furniture & Fixtures 22,352 15,000 Furniture & Fixtires

lT Eouioment 77,rL7 L5,000 lT Equipment

Office Su 15,585 20,000 Office Supplies

and r,722 2,750 Postase and Shipoins 2,500 2,500

Printer & Copier Expenses 13,375 15,000 Printer & Copier ExPenses 15,000 15,000

lT Licensing 23,409 35,000 lT Licensing 25,000 25,000

lT Computer Consultants 32,615 35,000 lT Computer Consultants 3s,000 35,000

Agency lnsurance 444,66L 180,000 Agency lnsurance 200,000 200,000

Meetins Exoenses 23,789 20,000 Meeting Expenses 20,000 20,000

Telephone/ lnternet Services 47,436 45,000 Teleohone/ lnternet Services 50,000 50,000

Roads & Ground Fuel 118,539 120,000 Roads & Ground Fuel 130,000 130,000

150,000

60,000

1,000,000

80,000

200,000

60,000
Road & Ground Equipment 94,924 150,000 Road & Ground Equipment

Maintenance Expenses s4,42L 50,000 Maintenance ExPenses

Development Obligation Settlmt 0 3,s00,000 Development Obligation Settlmt

Vehicle Purchase 71,623 150,000 Vehicle Purchase

Office Auto Fuel & Mtce 10,L22 15,000 Office Auto Fuel & Mtce 15,000 15,000

Grounds Maintenance 188,934 175,000 Grounds Equip Maintenance 175,000 175,000

Common Area Expenses 799,020 1,200,000 Common Area Expenses 1,400,000 1,400,000

Water Ops Expenses L28,499 115,000 Water Ops Expenses 115,000 115,000

Water Sub-Contractors 585,916 360,000 Water Sub-Contractors 410,000 410,000

Fees 0 80,000 RoValty Fees 80,000 80,000

SecuriW 72,245 80,000 Securitv 90,000 90,000

Securiw Equip & Supplies 2,206 s,000 Securiw Equip & 5upplies 5,000 5,000

Water Billing Reimbursement L89,524 0 Water Billins Reimbursement

Site Preparation 0 0 Site Preparation

204 Ooerations & Maintenance 1.L43.241 6.617.7s0 204 Ooerations & Maintenance 7.4L2.500 4,t32,500

Revised: 10:18 AM, 2/t8/2O25 FOR MANAGEMENT PURPOSES ONLY Page 2 of 3



River Ridge Development Authority Proposed 2025 Budget

Cash Basis

2024

Year to Date

Actual
as of

t2l3Ll24
Total

Budset 2025 Proposed

Total

Budset

Amended
Total

Budset

Difference

202s - 2024 %ChE.

Common Area lmprovements 1,339,181 2,800,000 Common Area lmprovements 300,000 300,000

Site Preparation aza,23A 3,500,000 Site Preparation 2,100,000 2,100,000

Demolition 2,60r,29r 2,000,000 Demolition 1,200,000 1,200,000

Other Construction 74,654,474 23.100,000 Other Construction 38,000,000 38,000,000

charlestown WWTP

ieffersonville WWTP

205 Construction Pro.iects t9,427,176 31,400,000 205 Construction Prolects* * + 41,600,000 41,600,000

fotal Revenres 88,2s9,238 Total Revenues 37,547,OOO

overage** 54,398,ss3 shortfal (21,339,000) (41,600,000)

NjTE A: Due to Metd Wire Trqnsfer in 2024 See NOTE B

trt
Sources of Funds to Cover Slrorttdll for Proposed 2024 Consttuctlon Prolocts .I{OTE I : Fundt Avanabh to Cover Siottlall lor Proposod 2025 Consfiuctlon PtolecB

TlF / UEZ Funds

2019 BAf'l

?021 Refunding BAN

2022 BAN

GeneEl Fund

4000,000
IlF

2022 BAN

2024 BAN

2025 8ANar

290o,00o
600,000

21,800,000

25.O00.000

7,900,000

600,@0
21,800,000
?5.OOO_O00

25,000,000

r,120,800

Total 30,120,8m Tobl 55,:10o,{xto s$300,000
tl

**would be approximately S11,488,553 if initial funds had been ***Anticipate some carryover to 2026

received in 2023 upon closing of first Meta sale.

Revisedi 2/7a/2o25 at 10:18 AM FOR MANAGEMENT PURPOSES ONLY Page 3 of 3



RESOLUTION NO. 12-2025

A RESOLUTION APPROVING A POLICE SERVICES

CONT

WHEREAS, River Ridge Development Authority ("RRDA") staff has identified the need

for additional police presence within the River Ridge Commerce Center ("RRCC"), particularly

as to trafhc regulation and enforcement; and,

WHEREAS, Ind. Code $ 36-7-30-9(a)(23) authorizes the RRDA to enter into contracts

for police services within the reuse area; and,

WHEREAS, RRDA General Counsel has negotiated a draft Police Services Agreement

with the City of Jeffersonville, Indiana, and the Jeffersonville Police Department (collectively the

"City"), a true and correct copy of which is attached hereto as Exhibit A; and,

WHEREAS, the Common Council of the City of Jeffersonville, Indiana, approved the

form of Exhibit A at its regular meeting on February 18,2024, and fuither authorized the Mayor

of the City to execute Exhibit A.

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF

THE RIVER RIDGB DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY AS FOLLOWS:

The RRDA Board of Directors concurs with the staff and finds that the performance

of the services to be provided by the Jeffersonville Police Department in accordance

with the terms of the Police Services Agreement attached hereto as Exhibit A is in

the best interests of the RRDA, current and future tenants in the RRCC, and the

general public, and as such authorizes the Executive Director to execute Exhibit A

on behalf of the RRDA.

SO RESOLVED BY AFFIRMATIVE VOTE OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

TAKEN DURING A DULY NOTICED AND CONVENED REGULARMEETING OF THE

RIVER RIDGE DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY HELD ON FEBRUARY 20,2025.

Attest: Dr. Treva Hodges, President

Attest: Brian Lenfert, Secretary/Treasurer



POLICE SERVICES AG EMENT

THIS POLICE SERVICES AGREEMENT (hereinafter referred to as this "Agreement") is made and

entered into with an effective date of April 1, 2025 (the "Effective Date"), by and between the RIVER RIDGE

DEVELOpMENT AUTHORITY, an Indiana government unit established pursuant to the provisions of Ind.

Code g 36-7-30, et seq. (the "RRDA"), and the CITY OF JEFFERSONVILLE, INDIANA, an Indiana

municipal govemment unit established pursuant to Ind. Code $ 36-4-I, et seq. (the "City"); each individually a

"Pafi" or collectively the "Parties."

RECITALS:

WHEREAS, the RRDA was established as a reuse authority pursuant to Ind. Code $ 36-7-30, et seq', fot

the purpose of undertaking the planning, replanning, rehabilitation, development, redevelopment, and other

p."pu.uiion for reuse of certain former federal military base property that was formerly known as the Indiana

Army Ammunition Plant, and which is now known as the River Ridge Commerce Center (the "RRCC"), as a

reuse area ("Reuse Area"); and,

WHEREAS, a portion of the Reuse Area is located within the corporate boundaries of the City; and,

WHEREAS' the City is an Indiana municipal government unit established pursuant to Ind. Code 5 36-4-

l, et seq.,to provide servicei to the residents of the City, including, but not limited to, police protection and fire

protection; and,

WHEREAS, that portion of RRCC that is located within the corporate boundaries of the City

("RRCC/Jeff') receives the very municipal services that are provided by the City to its residents; and,

WHEREAS, pursuant to Ind. Code $ 36-l-30-9(a)(23), the RRDA has the power to enter contracts for

the provision of additional police services to be provided within RRCC/Jeff ("Police Services"); and,

WHEREAS, pursuant to Ind. Code $ 36-7-30-9(a)(24),the RRDA has the power to make and enter into

all other contracts und ug.".-ents necessary or incidental to the performance of the duties of the RRDA and the

execution of the powers of the RRDA; and,

WHEREAS, the Parties hereby acknowledge that since the establishment of the RRDA, the City has been

providing municipal services, including without limitation, police protection and fire protection, within

RRCC/Jeff for the benefit of the RRDA; and,

WHEREAS, the RRDA is authorized to use tax increment finance ("TIF") proceeds allocated to the

Reuse Area to pay for the Police Services to be provided pursuant to the terms of this Agreement; and,

WHEREAS, the Parties now desire to enter this Agreement to provide for certain annual payments to be

made by the RRDA to the City in consideration of its provision of additional Police Services within RRCC/Jeff'

subject to the terms and conditions set forth herein.



NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual promises and obligations of the Parties set forth in

this Agreement, and for other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby

acknowledged, the Parties hereto covenant and agree as follows:

1. Recitals. The recitals set forth hereinabove are hereby incorporated into this Agreement as if fully

set forth herein.

2. Term. The term of this Agreement shall commence as of the Effective Date and expire on

December 31,2025 (the "Term"), unless extended in accordance with Section 4 below.

3. Scone of P Services. During the period that this Agreement remains in effect, the

Jeffersonville Police Department ("JPD") shall assign two (2) uniformed police officers in a marked or unmarked

police vehicles to patrol the RRCC/Jeff area on a Monday through Friday basis for two (2) periods of four and

one-half (4.5) hours each, with emphasis given to morning and afternoon peak traffic volumes, as determined by

RRDA, to the extent practicable. For pu{poses of this Agreement, RRCC/Jeff shall be deemed to include that

portion of State Road 62 that is contiguous with and/or adjacent to RRCC/Jeff. The JPD shall continue to Provide

emergency response and police services to RRCC/Jeff in the same manner and scope that it provides to the that

portion of the City outside of RRCC ona24l7l365 basis. The JPD shall provide mutual aid response services to

that portion of RRCC that is located within the corporate boundaries of the City of Charlestown, Indiana ona

24171365 basis. The emergency response and police services provided by JPD pursuant to this Agreement shall

be conducted in accordance with federal, state, and local laws, JPD policies and procedures, and generally

accepted policing industry standards. The RRDA may, upon written request to the City, request additional officers

for additional dedicated shifts at RRCC/Jeff at any time, which is subject to the review and approval of the City

and the Chief of police of JPD in their sole discretion. If such a request is approved, then RRDA will provide

additional funds and the City will manage such additional funds in accordance with Sections 5 and 6 below.

4. Additional Term. The Term of this Agreement, as set forth in Section 2 above, shall be

automaticatty .*t"na.a *al, calendar year basis (the "Additional Term"), unless terminated or modified

in writing by November 30 of the year in which the Term or the Additional Term would otherwise expire.

5. Compensation. In consideration for the emergency response and police services provided by the

City and ffO p,r*"rnt to thir Agreement and Section 3, RRDA hereby agrees to pay the City the not to exceed

annual sum of Four Hundred Ninety-Eight Thousand Two Hundred Eighty-Seven and 58/100 Dollars

($498,287.58) (the aforementioned annual sum shall be guaranteed for a period of five (5) years from the Effective

Date and not subject to change for any reason), in two (2) equal installments by not later than January 31 and July

31, respectively, of each year that this Agreement remains in effect. Such compensation shall be pro-rated for

uny y"i, in which Police Services ur" p.ouid.d during a period of less than twelve (12) full months (i.e., the total

compensation for calendar year 2025 shall not exceed Three Hundred Thirty-Two Thousand One Hundred

Ninety-One and 71ll00 Doltars ($332,191.72) and shall be paid in two (2) equal installments by no later than

April j and July 3l). Each installment payment shall be delivered to the City at its address for receiving notices

set forth in 11 below

6. Rebate of Surnlus Residual Funds. The annual compensation provided in Section 5 above

is based upon the highest overtime rate for senior officers pursuant to the City's current collective bargaining

agreement, as of the Effective Date, with its' police officers (the "Collective Bargaining Agreement"), which rate

is presently $106.18 an hour. The Parties acknowledge and agree that not all emergency response and police

services provided for in Section 3 and pursuant to this Agreement will be provided by such senior officers being

paid at a rate of $ I 06. I 8 an hour and that police officers assigned to provide such emergency response and police

services pursuant to this Agreement may be paid at a lesser overtime rate. The City agrees to keep an accurate

accounting (and subject to inspection by RRDA) of the proper overtime rates of the police officers (based upon



the Collective Bargaining Agreement) who provided the emergency response and police services pursuant to this

Agreement. It is expected that surplus or residual funds will be rebated to RRDA and that RRDA shall only pay

foi the actual approved time and Collective Bargaining Agreement overtime rates for the police officers who

provided the emirgency response and police services pursuant to this Agreement. The City shall provide to
-ttRlA, 

no later than January 15 of the following year, a true-up amount or amount to be refunded to RRDA'

RRDA, in its sole discretion, may elect to credit such amount toward the next installment payment for the

Compensation provided in Section 5 if this Agreement is still in effect or may request a return of such surplus or

residual funds which shall be provided by the City within seven (7) working days following the request by RRDA.

Additionally, if this Agreement is terminated or not renewed all surplus or residual funds must be returned to

RRDA within thirty (30) days of such termination.

7. Traffic Reeulation: Minimum Standards for Enforcement. The City acknowledges that all

of the roud*uy, *ithin RRCC/Jeff are o*n.d und maintained by RRDA within easements reserved or established

for such purposes. RRDA shall recommend to the Common Council of the City (the "City Council") the

establishmeni of speed limits or other appropriate traffic regulations authorized by Indiana law, including without

limitation, Ind. Code $ 9-20, et seq.,Ind. Code $ 9-21 , et seq.,Ind. Code $ 9-21-l-2, and Ind. Code $ 9-21-l-3,

for each such roadwuy .ro* located or subsequently constructed within the RRCC/Jeff, which recommendation

shall be based on the 
-opinion 

of a registered professional engineer retained by RRDA (at RRDA's sole cost and

expense) to design or review the condition of each such roadway. The City Council shall take ofhcial action upon

consideration of an ordinance (with the endorsement and support of JPD) with respect to each such

recommendation within thirty (30) days following receipt. In the event that the City establishes an ordinance

violations bureau, the City shall be entitled to keep and retain all funds collected for traffic ordinance violations

committed within RRCC/Jeff to the extent permitted by law and without compensation to RRDA or reduction of
any payments pursuant to this Agreement.

8. performance and Reporting. The City and JPD hereby covenant and agree to continue to

perform und prouid" th" uil .-ogstt.y response and police services provided in this Agreement from and after

the Effective Date for so long as this Agreement remains in effect. The City and JPD shall provide RRDA with a

report on a not less than monthly basis detailing the officers that were assigned to each shift, the beginning and

end times of each shift, time sheets for the police officers, and the applicable overtime rates for such officers.

Additionally, the City and JPD agrees to provide to RRDA on a quarterly basis (or upon request by RRDA)

reports in aform satisfactory to RRDA consisting of: (a) the calls/runs the police officer respond to, (b) traffic

stops, (c) anests and chargei, 1d; .itutions, and (e) such other documentation RRDA may request related to this

Agreement andlor the emergency response and police services provided.

g, No PILOT. The City covenants and agrees that it shall not enact any payment-in-lieu of taxes

("pILOT") pu.r*nt to th" provisions of Ind. Code $ 36-7-30-31 or any other statute during the period that this

Agreement remains in effect.

10. Indemnification and Insurance. The City and JPD covenant and agree at their expense to pay

and to itrd.-niry und ruu" RRDA .ond each of its respective officers, directors, employees, attorneys, and agents

(collectively, "Indemnitees" and each an "Indemnitee") harmless of, from and against, any and all claims,

dur.rug.r, dlmands, expenses (including reasonable attorneys' fees and costs), and liabilities relating to bodily

i"j".V, property damage, or any other cliim or loss resulting directly or indirectly from the City or JPD's (and/or

uny of tfr. bity'r or JPb's employees, agents, contractors, attorneys, or affrliates) actions or omissions relating to

1a; tfris Agreement, (b) the emergency response and police services provided by the City or JPD, and (c) the

operations-of the City or JPD. If any action or proceeding is brought against one or more Indemnitees, (x) each

Indemnitee may, in iis sole discretion, select its own counsel, (y) the Indemnitee(s) seeking indemnification shall

give notice of such action or proceeding to City and JPD in writing, and (z) the City and JPD shall reimburse such

indemnitee(s) for all reasonable costs and expenses, including reasonable attorneys' fees and court costs, incurred



by such Indemnitee(s) in connection with the defense of such action or proceeding. Further, the City and JPD

shall name the River Ridge Development Authority as an additional insured under all relevant and applicable

insurance policies maintained by the City or JPD.

11. Notices. All notices, requests, or other communications required hereunder shall be sufficient

only if given in writing which shall be deed given when delivered personally, one (1) day after being deposited

for-nexiday delivery by a nationally recognized courier, or three (3) business days when sent by registered or

certified United States Mail, with return receipt requested and postage prepaid as follows:

To RRDA River Ridge Development Authority
Attn: Executive Director
300 Corporate Avenue, Suite 300

Jeffersonville, IN 47 I30

With a copy to River Ridge Development Authority
Attn: General Counsel
300 Corporate Avenue, Suite 300

Jeffersonville, IN 47 130

To the City City of Jeffersonville, Indiana
Attn: Director of Finance
500 Quartermaster Court, Suite 300

Jeffersonville, IN 47 130

With a copy to: City of Jeffersonville, Indiana
Attn: CorPorationCounsel
500 Quartermaster Court, Suite 250
Jeffersonville, IN 47130

Any party to this Agreement may, by notice given hereunder, designate any further or different addresses to which

subsequent notices, requests, or other communications shall be sent.

12. Time is of the Essence. Except for extensions of time resulting from an event or force majeure,

the times for p"rfo*n"" pr*ia"a in this Agreement are essential as they relate to the obligations and

expenditures of the Parties.

13. Bindine Effect. This Agreement shall inure to the benefit of, and shall be binding to the fullest

extent applicable, upon the Parties and their respective successors and assigns.

14. Assisnment. No Party hereto may assign all or any portion of its rights and obligations

hereunder without the prior written consent of the other Party hereto.

15. Amendments Modification. This Agreement, together with the agreements and documents

referenced herein, supersede all prior negotiations and agreements and constitute the entire agreement between

the parties regarding its subject matter. No change, amendment, or modification to, or extension or waiver of any

provisions of, or consent provided hereunder, shalI be valid unless such change, amendment, modification,

extension, or waiver is in writing and signed by all
waiver, by the Party granting same.

the Parties to this Agreement, or in the case of consent or



16. Severabilitv. In case any Section or provision of this Agreement, or in case any covenant,

stipulation, ugr..*.ntp"t or action, or part thereof, made, assumed, entered into or taken under this Agreement,

ot utry application thereof, is, for any reason, held to be illegal or invalid, or is at any time inoperable by reason

of any law, or actions thereunder, such illegality or invalidity or inoperability shall not affect the remainder thereof

or any covenant, stipulation, obligation, agreement, act or action, or part thereof, made, assumed, entered into or

take under this Agreement.

17. Governins Law. This Agreement shall be construed and enforced in accordance with the laws

of the State of Indiana.

lB. Captions and Headings. The captions and headings of the various Sections herein contained are

solely for the .ot .ni*." of the various Parties hereto and shall not be construed to interpret or limit the content

of any provision or Section of this Agreement.

19. Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in several counterparts, each of which shall be

considered an original and all of which shall constitute one and the same instrument.

20. Authoritv. The individuals executing this Agreement on behalf of the Parties hereto warrant

their capacity and authority to execute this Agreement on behalf of said Parties, respectively.

21, Subordination to Debt Service. Notwithstanding any provision contained herein to the contrary,

theCityunannlpaymentsunderthisAgreementshallbesubordinatetoanyand
all debi service payments iortonds, notes, leases, or other debt obligations issued by or on behalf of RRDA prior

to or after the Effective Date.

[The remainder of this page intentionally left blank. Signature pages follow.J



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the City has caused this Agreement to be duly executed on

2025

CITY OF JEFFERSONVILLE, INDIANA

By
Michael G. Moore, Mayor

Attested by

Lisa Gill, Jeffersonville City Clerk



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the RRDA has caused this Agreement to be duly executed on

2025.

RIVER RIDGE
DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY

By:
Jerry G. Acy, Executive Director

Attested by:

C. Gregory Fifer, General Counsel

0 I I 8 167.07971 68 49 19 -5415 -5024v2



RESOLUTION NO. 13.2025

A RESOLUTION GRANTING AN EXCEPTION

FOR TRACT 19C FROM THE HEIGHT LIMIT ESTABLISHED

BY SECTION 6.A.2 OF THE RRCC DEVELOPMENT STANDARDS

WHEREAS, the RRDA previously adopted Resolution No. 3-2024 in which Canadian

Solar was granted an cxception to Section 6.A.2. of the RRCC Development Standards for a

structure height exceeding sixty (60') within the Tier II area of RRCC; and,

WHEREAS, the exception permitted Canadian Solar to construct eleven (11) exhaust

stacks with a height of one hundred feet (100') at locations shown on attached Exhibit A; and,

WHEREAS, Canadian Solar has submitted a revised Development Plan for Tract l9C

located within the River Ridge Commerce Center ("RRCC") requesting the addition of an air

handling structure with a proposed height of one hundred feet (100') as shown on the attached

Exhibit B; and,

WHEREAS, an additional exception to Section 6.A.2 of the RRDA Development

Standards is required before the Tract l9C Canadian Solar revised Development Plan can be

approved; and,

WHEREAS, RRDA staff has determined that the proposed exception will not be

detrimental to the overall development of RRCC and recommends approval of this additional

exception from the Development Standards for Tract l9C Canadian Solar project.

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF

THE RIVER RIDGE DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY AS FOLLOWS:

The RRDA Board concurs with the staff recommendation and hereby approves

an exception to Section 6.A.2 of the RRDA Development Standards for the

Tract l9C Canadian Solar site. Pursuant to the grant of this exception,

Canadian Solar is permitted to construct one (l) air handling structure with a

height of one hundred feet (100') each in the locations shown on attached

Exhibit B.

https://riverridgecc.sharepoint.com/sites/RR/Shared Documents/08.Board/Resolutionsl2025 Resolutions/l 3-2025 ' Canadian Solar Exception Resolution ( 1 )

cgf.docx



SO RESOLVED BY AFFIRMATIVE VOTE OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

TAKEN DURING A DULY NOTICED AND CONVENED REGULAR MEETING OF THE

RrvER RIDGE DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY HELD ON FERUARY 20,2025.

Attest Dr. Treva Hodges, President

Attest Brian Lenfert, Secretary/Treasurer

https://riverridgecc.sharepoint.com/sites/RR/Shared Documents/O8.Board/Resolutions/2025 Resolut ionsl 13'2025 - Canadian Solar Exception Resolution ( I )

cgf.docx
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RESOLUTION NO. 14.2025

A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
TO NEGOTIATE AN AGREEMENT TO SELL TRACT 15H TO

ONFID

WHEREAS' the Executive Director of the River Ridge Development Authority (the "RRDA")

has been in discussions with an industrial or commercial prospect (the "Potential Purchaser") interested

in purchasing approximately 13.g+l- acres of undeveloped land designated as Tract 15H and generally

located on the northeast comer of the intersection of Patrol Road and River Ridge Parkway within the

River Ridge Commerce Center ("RRCC") as more particularly shown on Exhibit A attached; and,

WHEREAS, the Potential Purchaser requires that the negotiations be conducted in strict

confidence; and,

WHEREAS, the Potential Purchaser has stated its desire to purchase the land for the purpose of
constructing two industrial facilities comprising a minimum of 200,000 square feet in the aggregate; and,

WHEREAS' the RRDA is willing to sell the property for $136,500 per acre with a potential site

development credit so long as a Purchase and Sale Agreement can be executed within sixty (60) calendar

days from the date of this resolution; and

WHEREAS, the parties need to negotiate certain terms of a purchase and sale agreement which

may include RRDA's development obligations; the Prospective Purchaser's development requirements; a

moie precise configuration of the property and acreage to be purchased; the size, shape, configuration,

and loiation of prospective Purchasei's site improvements; a schedule of development deadlines; and,

RRDA's repurchase iigfrtr in the event of Prospective Purchaser's failure to meet development deadlines;

and,

WHEREAS, it is crucial that the negotiations remain confidential and for the identity of the

potential purchaser to remain anonymous until such time as the RRDA and the Potential Purchaser have

executed a purchase and sale agreement;

NOW, THEREFOREO BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS FOR THE

RIVER RIDGE DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY AS FOLLOWS:

The Executive Director is granted authority for sixty (60) calendar days following the

adoption of this Resolution to negotiate and execute a purchase and sale agreement

prepared in such form as approved by General Counsel for the sale of an approximately

13.9+l- acre parcel as shown on Exhibit A for $136,500 per acre and to negotiate any

appropriate site development credit. This per-acre sale price shall expire sixty (60)

"ui"ttiur 
days from the adoption of this Resolution. In the event that a purchase and sale

agreement is executed, the Executive Director is authorized on behalf of the RRDA to

execute, deliver, record, and file, as required , any and all closing documents, including

without limitation, a deed, closing statement, and any other documents which are deemed

necessary or appropriate by General Counsel or Special Counsel to close the sale. The

execution ana aetviry of all such documents by the Executive Director shall be conclusive

evidence of the RRDA's approval of the sale. This resolution fuither certifies that Jerry G.

Acy is the RRDA's Executive Director.

Page 1 of3



SO RESOLVED BY MAJORITY VOTE OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS TAKEN
DURING A DULY NOTICED AND CONVENED REGULAR MEETING OF THE RIVER
RIDGE DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY HELD ON FEBRUARY 20,2025.

Attest: Dr. Treva Hodges, President

Attest: Brien Lenfert, Secretary/Treasurer

Page 2 of3



EXHIBIT A

PAUL GARRETT
AVENUE

PATROL
ROAD

TRACT 15H
13.9 +l- AC.

RIVER RIDGE
PARKWAY

Page 3 of3



RESOLUTION NO. 15.2025

A RESOLUTION APPROVING THE AWARD OF THE

PATROL ROAD REALIGNMENT CONSTRUCTION CONTRACT

WHEREAS, the River Ridge Development Authority ('.RRDA") has sold an

approximately eight (8) acre tract of real property in the Jeffersonville section of the River Ridge

Commerce Center ("RRCC") known as Tract 15G; and,

WHEREAS, RRDA is contractually obligated to construct access roads and infrastructure

to the site; and,

WHEREAS, RRDA has developed plans for construction of a realignment of Patrol Road

that runs approximately 3,000 linear feet from River Ridge Parkway to Paul Garrett Avenue

consisting of two (2) twelve-foot (12.00') wide travel lanes with a twelve-foot (12.00') wide two-

way left turn lane in the center of the road, the realignment of a l0-inch gravity sanitary sewer

main, and an underground storm drainage system along the roadway that will provide drainage

capacity to future development sites to the west of the proposed road; and,

WHEREAS' bids were solicited to perform the work in accordance with Indiana law; and,

WHEREAS, the funding source of this project will be 2024 BANs; and,

WHEREAS, five (5) contractors submitted bids for performance of the work, which bids

have been reviewed by RRDA staff and HWC Engineering, Inc., and the bid tabulation sheet is

attached hereto as Exhibit ".L"; and,

WHEREAS, it is the staffrecommendation that the most responsible, responsive, and cost-

effective bid was submitted by Dan Cristiani Excavating Co., Inc. with a contract amount of

Three Million Five Hundred Fortv-Four Thousand Four Hundred Twentv-One and No/100

Dollars ($3.544.42 1.00).

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF

THE RIVER RIDGE DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY AS FOLLOWS:

The RRDA Board of Directors concurs with the staff recommendation and hereby

awards the Patrol Road Realignment Construction Contract to Dan Cristiani

Excavatins Co.. Inc. with a contract amount of Three Million Five Hundred

Fortv-F r Thousand Four Hundred and No/100 Dollars

($3.544.421.00) and authorizes the RRDA Executive Director to execute a contract

for such work, subject to review and approval of General Counsel.

1



SO RESOLVED BY AFFIRMATIVE VOTE OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

TAKEN DURING A DULY NOTICED AND CONVENED REGULAR MEETING OF THE

RMR RIDGE DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY HELD ON FEBRUARY 20,2025.

Attest Dr. Treva Hodges, President

Attest Brian Lenfert, Secretary/Treasurer

2



RIVER RIDGE COMMERCE CENTER

PATROL ROAD REALIGNMENT PROJECT

BID TABULATION

CONTRACTOR BID PRICE

Dan Cristiani Excavating Co., Inc. $3,544,421.00

Louisville Paving Company, Inc. $3,817,087.00

MAC Construction & Excavating, Inc. $4,070,000.00

Cleary Construction Inc. $4,075,000.00

E&B Paving,LLC $4,708,600.00

J



RESOLUTON NO. 16-2025

A RESOLUTION APPROVING THE AWARD OF A
PROFESSIONAI, SFJ,RVICES AGRF],EMENT FOR WEBSITE DE PMENT

WHEREAS, the River Ridge Development Authority ("RRDA") is a duly established

former military base reuse authority under Ind. Code $ 36-7-30, et seq', that is charged with the

redevelopment of the River Ridge Commerce Center ("RRCC"); and,

WHEREAS, the RRDA has the responsibility to create developable land to be sold to

investors for the purpose of creating economic development and job opportunities; and,

WHEREAS, in order to fulfill this responsibility, the RRDA/RRCC must have an

informative and navigable website that showcases the benefits of investing in the RRCC as well

as the RRDA/RRCC's beneficial impact on the surrounding region; and,

WHEREAS, staff finds that the current RRDA/RRCC website is outdated and difficult to

navigate; and,

WHEREAS, the RRDA publicly solicited and received thirty-f,rve (35) quotes from

consultants for assistance in the development of a new and improved RRDA website; and,

WHEREAS, following a thorough vetting process, the RRDA working group has

determined that the most responsive, responsible, and cost-effective quote was submitted by

Marketing Alliance. Inc., with a contract amount of Twenty-seven Thousand Eight Hundred

Fiftv and No/100 Dollars ($27.850.00) (see Exhibit A), and staff recommends the acceptance of

such quote.

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE RIVER RIDGE

DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY AS FOLLOWS:

The RRDA Board of Directors concurs with the staff recommendation and hereby

awards the Professional Services Agreement for website development to

Marketing Alliance. Inc., with a contract amount of Twentv-seven Thousand

Eieht Hundred Fiftv and No/100 Dollars ($27.850.00), and hereby authorizes the

RRDA Executive Director to execute a contract for such work, subject to prior

review and approval of General Counsel.



SO RESOLVED BY MAJORITYVOTE OFTHE BOARD OF DIRECTORS TAKEN

DURING A DULY NOTICED AND CONVENED REGULAR MEETING OF THE RIVER

RIDGE DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY HELD ON FEBRUARY 20, 2025.

Attest Dr. Treva Hodges, President

Attest Brian Lenfert, Secretary/Treasurer



Website Devetoper BID Price Did they meet the criteria?

Aatoon Sotutions

Secret Mind Tech

DigiDir

Appztogic lnc

tviStech

Acquaint Soft Tech

BudVentu re Technologies

Shyam

Ngrid Technotogies

crs
TAP Digitat Services

MS Technol.ogies

Tristate TechnotogY

SoftRad ix Tech nologies

Onlee

30l Marketing

Pameo

Birdmorning Sotutions

ExpertApp Devs

Koder Labs

Mediaura
Kitowott

Pixet Ftames

SimpteView

ProMedia Group

W PoEtS

Matthews Design

Subl.ime Media Group

Creative Repute

New Media Campaigns

Mightity

Ogun Labs

Etement 502

Crescendo

$1,850
$2,ooo
$2,ooo
$4,000
$4,500
$4,500
$s,ooo

$5,400
$5,650
$6,090
$6,552
$z,ooo

$7,soo
$8,000
$8,ooo
$9,ooo
$9,450
$9,999

$.11,3O5

$1B,5oo

$20,060
$21,ooo
$21,350
$23,ooo
$25,ooo
$26,500

No

No

No

No

No

No

No

No

No

No

No

No

No

No

NO

No

No

No

No

No

No

No

No

No

YES

No

No

No

No

Yes

Yes

No

No

No

$29,750
$3t,soo
$3t,5oo
$3s,ooo
$38,800

$so,ooo
$51,500

$64,250
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